

**ABUSE IN CARE ROYAL COMMISSION OF INQUIRY  
FAITH-BASED INSTITUTIONAL RESPONSE HEARING**

**Under** The Inquiries Act 2013

**In the matter of** The Royal Commission of Inquiry into Historical Abuse in State Care and in the Care of Faith-based Institutions

**Royal Commission:** Judge Coral Shaw (Chair)  
Dr Anaru Erueti  
Ali'imuamua Sandra Alofivae  
Paul Gibson

**Counsel:** Mr Simon Mount QC, Ms Kerryn Beaton QC, Ms Katherine Anderson, Ms Tania Sharkey, Mr Michael Thomas, Ms Kathy Basire and Ms Alisha Castle for the Royal Commission

Ms Rachael Schmidt-McCleave and Ms Julia White for the Crown

Ms Sally McKechnie and Ms Brooke Clifford for Te Rōpū Tautoko, the Catholic Bishops and Congregational Leaders

Ms India Shores for the Anglican Church

Ms Maria Dew, Ms Kiri Harkess and Mr Lourenzo Fernandez for the Methodist Church of New Zealand and Wesley College

Ms Lydia Oosterhoff for the Survivor Network of those Abused by Priests

Mr Brian Henry for Gloriavale Leavers' Support Trust

Mr Chris Shannon and Ms Clare Sykes for Gloriavale Christian Community

**Venue:** Level 2  
Abuse in Care Royal Commission of Inquiry  
414 Khyber Pass Road  
AUCKLAND

**Date:** 13 October 2022

---

**TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS**

---

**INDEX**

<b>OPENING STATEMENT BY THE ROYAL COMMISSION</b>	6
<b>OPENING STATEMENT BY THE CROWN</b>	11
<b>OPENING STATEMENT BY SAGE</b>	21
<b>OPENING STATEMENT BY SNAP</b>	24
<b>OPENING STATEMENT BY THE GLORIAVALE LEAVERS' SUPPORT TRUST</b>	27
<b>OPENING STATEMENT BY GLORIAVALE</b>	30
<b>HOWARD WENDELL TEMPLE</b> Questioning by Mr Shannon	34
<b>RACHEL STEDFAST</b> Questioning by Ms Sykes	37
<b>HOWARD WENDELL TEMPLE AND RACHEL STEDFAST</b> Questioning by Ms Basire Questioning by Commissioners	40 97

25 **QUESTIONING BY MS BASIRE:** Thank you.

26                   Good morning, Mr Temple and Ms Stedfast. Mr Temple, I'll direct my questions at  
27                   you first and that will probably take us, we're going to have a short break at about 12  
28                   because somebody's typing everything up and then we'll come back and go through to 1 and  
29                   then have a lunch break.

30                   Now, you've just told us that you are 82 years of age; is that right?

31 **MR TEMPLE:** Correct, yes.

32 **MS BASIRE:** And you joined the Christian community that's now called the Gloriavale Christian  
33                   Community in the mid-1970s?

34 **MR TEMPLE:** That is right, yes.

- 1 **MS BASIRE:** Where was the community in the mid-1970s?
- 2 **MR TEMPLE:** That was on the east coast of the South Island out of Christchurch a ways, a little  
3 place called Springbank.
- 4 **MS BASIRE:** Right. So I understand that initially the community was in Rangiora, is that right?
- 5 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes, it started in a church in Rangiora.
- 6 **MS BASIRE:** Yeah. And at that time members of the church would live in their own family  
7 homes and go to their own jobs but just come together for church, is that right?
- 8 **MR TEMPLE:** That is right. That is right, yes.
- 9 **MS BASIRE:** Then there was this move to Springbank which I understand was in about 1979, is  
10 that right?
- 11 **MR TEMPLE:** '79 -- I'm working on my memory now, ma'am, I would have thought it would  
12 have been earlier than that.
- 13 **MS BASIRE:** I'm just following the responses that you gave in your written document, but it  
14 probably doesn't matter which year of the '70s, we both agree that there was some land  
15 purchased at Springbank which was about 17 kilometres inland from Rangiora, is that  
16 right?
- 17 **MR TEMPLE:** Correct, yes.
- 18 **MS BASIRE:** And it was at that stage the communal living started to happen, is that right?
- 19 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes, that is right. It happened gradually over a number of years, before it became  
20 an actual community.
- 21 **MS BASIRE:** So how many people roughly were in the community in the 1970s, living  
22 communally?
- 23 **MR TEMPLE:** Approximately, in the beginning, about 30 people (inaudible), in 1970 it could  
24 have been 75. I don't really remember that far, but probably 75 people at that time.
- 25 **MS BASIRE:** So initially it was quite a small group of people?
- 26 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes, very small, I want to say about 35, 40 people.
- 27 **MS BASIRE:** Now, Neville Cooper essentially founded the community, didn't he?
- 28 **MR TEMPLE:** That is right, yes.
- 29 **MS BASIRE:** And he'd come to New Zealand in 1967 and he had tried to do something similar in  
30 Queensland but he'd fallen out with the group he was with over doctrinal issues; is that  
31 correct?
- 32 **MR TEMPLE:** I would have said that was in New Zealand in the North Island. When he came to  
33 New Zealand he went into the North Island to a church group there. There was a division  
34 there because of doctrinal issues, and he came down to the South Island then.

- 1 **MS BASIRE:** So he came down to the South Island and started his church group in Rangiora and  
2 that's when you met him?
- 3 **MR TEMPLE:** That's correct, yes.
- 4 **MS BASIRE:** After living communally in Springbank for a number of years, your community  
5 purchased some land in Haupiri in the West Coast, is that right?
- 6 **MR TEMPLE:** That's right, yes.
- 7 **MS BASIRE:** And this is remote valley about 60 kilometres inland from Greymouth?
- 8 **MR TEMPLE:** That's right, yes.
- 9 **MS BASIRE:** What prompted the move to the West Coast?
- 10 **MR TEMPLE:** We needed a larger property, we had outgrown the property that we had on the  
11 East Coast at Springbank, we were looking for a bigger property and a property on the  
12 West Coast was up for sale. We had a look at it, it looked acceptable to us, so we shifted  
13 there.
- 14 **MS BASIRE:** What was the size of the community in the early '90s?
- 15 **MR TEMPLE:** I'm sorry, I have to do a bit of guessing along that line. About 200 people when  
16 we left the East Coast and came to the West Coast, it would probably be 200 people.
- 17 **MS BASIRE:** Thank you. And I understand you're currently around 600, are you?
- 18 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes, we're just under 600. More exactly, 585 would be a more exact number.
- 19 **MS BASIRE:** And that's less than what you've had previously. Do I understand from what your  
20 counsel said, that there might have been up to 700 or 800 people at one stage?
- 21 **MR TEMPLE:** No, no, sorry, there would never have been that many. There's never been that  
22 many number of us together there. 600 would be the maximum. I don't remember that  
23 number being an exact number of the members there.
- 24 **MS BASIRE:** That's fine.  
25 Now, your lawyer in his opening, Mr Shannon, briefly explained to us the living  
26 arrangements. I understand you have a number of buildings on that site?
- 27 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes.
- 28 **MS BASIRE:** And there's also businesses run from the site; is that correct?
- 29 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes, that's right. Yes, correct.
- 30 **MS BASIRE:** So in terms of the living arrangement, you have a central dining room, kitchen, sort  
31 of gathering area; is that correct?
- 32 **MR TEMPLE:** That's correct, yes.
- 33 **MS BASIRE:** And then four hostels where the families live?
- 34 **MR TEMPLE:** That's correct, yes.

- 1 **MS BASIRE:** I understand that in those hostels the families live on the first two floors?
- 2 **MR TEMPLE:** That's correct, yes.
- 3 **MS BASIRE:** And there's about 11 families per floor?
- 4 **MR TEMPLE:** About that, it may vary from floor to floor.
- 5 **MS BASIRE:** And we know that you have large families, so each family could have around 10  
6 children; is that right?
- 7 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes, the largest one has 13 children.
- 8 **MS BASIRE:** Right. The living quarters that you talk about, in effect a family would have two  
9 bedrooms perhaps for them and their children?
- 10 **MR TEMPLE:** There are some have three bedrooms.
- 11 **MS BASIRE:** But predominantly just a normal-sized bedroom for perhaps up to 10, 12 people?
- 12 **MR TEMPLE:** I just have to think for a minute, sorry.
- 13 **MS BASIRE:** That's okay.
- 14 **MR TEMPLE:** Three-bedroom for 12 people, I'm getting a little bit of cooperation here with  
15 Rachel.
- 16 **MS BASIRE:** Right. And that's their only private area in the hostel, isn't it, those bedrooms?
- 17 **MR TEMPLE:** That would be right, yes, that's right, those bedrooms.
- 18 **MS BASIRE:** And when you talk of having family time and meal times, that would be in a  
19 communal area with the 11 families, wouldn't it?
- 20 **MR TEMPLE:** That would be, we have breakfast and lunch in the communal dining room. Tea,  
21 we have that at home now.
- 22 **MS BASIRE:** But that's what I mean, when I'm talking about "home", the hostel, each floor has a  
23 communal room.
- 24 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes, that's correct, yes.
- 25 **MS BASIRE:** Right. They don't have their own lounge rooms or kitchens per family, do they?
- 26 **MR TEMPLE:** No, they don't. They have a large lounge room and then they have a smaller  
27 kitchen room.
- 28 **MS BASIRE:** Thank you. Just a bit later I'm going to be asking you some questions about the  
29 changes you've made and I just wanted to -- everybody to understand the sort of  
30 environment that we're talking about. So you've told us in the written response to the  
31 Notice to Produce that your leaders are called "Shepherds" and "Servants"?
- 32 **MR TEMPLE:** That's correct, yes.
- 33 **MS BASIRE:** You are the overseeing Shepherd, so you are the overall leader?
- 34 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes, that's correct.

- 1 **MS BASIRE:** And a Shepherd sees to the spiritual needs of the people?
- 2 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes, that's correct.
- 3 **MS BASIRE:** And each floor of the accommodation has a Shepherd in charge?
- 4 **MR TEMPLE:** No, not at the present time, it did have earlier on, but not at the present time.
- 5 **MS BASIRE:** Why is that?
- 6 **MR TEMPLE:** One has died, one has died, a couple have resigned.
- 7 **MS BASIRE:** Right. So some floors of the accommodation wouldn't have a Shepherd but they'd
- 8 have a Servant?
- 9 **MR TEMPLE:** No, not altogether, but that would be a person that has been appointed to sort of
- 10 take a bit of responsibility for that floor.
- 11 **MS BASIRE:** Can you tell us what Servants in your organisation do?
- 12 **MR TEMPLE:** They work alongside the Shepherds, assisting the Shepherds in sort of overseeing
- 13 the community, the people and so forth.
- 14 **MS BASIRE:** In terms of hierarchy, are Shepherds higher up in the hierarchy than Servants?
- 15 **MR TEMPLE:** They would -- I don't go along that line too much. In comparison with, say, a
- 16 Shepherd would be something equal to a Bishop in a church, the Servant would be
- 17 something like a deacon in the church. But in my looking at it, we're all equal there, it's
- 18 just the Shepherd and Servants are delegated to have a general oversight of the people in
- 19 the community.
- 20 I'm not too concerned about the hierarchy, the qualifications or anything like that,
- 21 I'm not overly concerned about that, as long as the people are getting looked after properly.
- 22 **MS BASIRE:** Historically I understand the Shepherds were in a position of leadership over the
- 23 Servants and therefore over the people, so there was a hierarchy traditionally?
- 24 **MR TEMPLE:** That's right, correct, yes.
- 25 **MS BASIRE:** I understand, Mr Temple, that you were appointed a Shepherd in 1985.
- 26 **MR TEMPLE:** That's right, correct, yes.
- 27 **MS BASIRE:** And at that time, in 1985, it was just you and Hopeful Christian and David Courage
- 28 as Shepherds?
- 29 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes, correct.
- 30 **MS BASIRE:** And then David Courage left in 1995?
- 31 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes, correct.
- 32 **MS BASIRE:** And just before that a man called Fervent Stedfast was appointed as a Shepherd as
- 33 well?
- 34 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes, correct.

1 **MS BASIRE:** So from 1985 to 1995 there were only three Shepherds, all of which were male; is  
2 that correct?

3 **MR TEMPLE:** That's correct, yes.

4 **MS BASIRE:** In your Notice to Produce response, it's document 147 in our bundle, you've talked  
5 about gender roles and I just want to read something out to you. You've said:

6 "Gender roles in the Gloriavale community are defined along biblical lines with  
7 specific roles for men and women as outlined in the New Testament. Men have  
8 traditionally been the decision-makers, and bread-earners while women have taken their  
9 place as mothers, running household areas, in later years in paid work as teachers in the  
10 early childhood centres caring for children."

11 Now, you'd agree that that is the current position still, that the community is  
12 structured along biblical lines and you don't have any female Shepherds or Servants?

13 **MR TEMPLE:** That's correct, yes.

14 **MS BASIRE:** It's fair to say that the community, both at Springbank and at Gloriavale,  
15 intertwined spirituality, education, business and family altogether?

16 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes, that's correct.

17 **MS BASIRE:** None is independent of each other due to the goals of the community to live your  
18 life separate from the outside world in accordance with the New Testament?

19 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes, that's correct.

20 **MS BASIRE:** Now this Inquiry is concerned with abuse in care that happened in the years 1950  
21 to 1999 primarily and you have made some acknowledgments in your written responses  
22 that some of your doctrinal beliefs have contributed to abuse and lack of reporting. So my  
23 next set of questioning is, I'm going to ask you about the doctrine in the document What  
24 We Believe and the Declaration of Commitment pertaining to the 1989 version, but I see  
25 we've got to 12 o'clock, so we'll just have a short five-minute break and then come back.

26 **CHAIR:** Yes, you can take a breath and we will be back shortly to resume, thank you.

27 **Adjournment from 11.59 am to 12.08 pm**

28 **CHAIR:** Thank you very much. Yes, Ms Basire, you can carry on.

29 **QUESTIONING BY MS BASIRE CONTINUED:** Thank you.

30 Mr Temple, before the break I had made reference to the document What We  
31 Believe. Who was the author of What We Believe?

32 **MR TEMPLE:** Hopeful Christian and Fervent Stedfast, it would have been the two of them.

33 **MS BASIRE:** Right. So Hopeful Christian and David Stedfast?

34 **MR TEMPLE:** Fervent Stedfast.

1 **MS BASIRE:** Oh, sorry, Fervent Stedfast.

2 **MR TEMPLE:** They would discuss it to a degree.

3 **MS BASIRE:** Right. Now, I understand they began working on that in the mid-1980s and the  
4 first sort of printed copy was in 1989; would that be about right?

5 **MR TEMPLE:** That would be about right. I can't comment on the beginning of it, but it was  
6 finished and made public to the community in '89.

7 **MS BASIRE:** Right. And that document had a corresponding document which was called a  
8 Declaration of Commitment; is that correct?

9 **MR TEMPLE:** That's correct, yes.

10 **MS BASIRE:** And effectively What We Believe and the Declaration of Commitment were  
11 summaries of what your church saw as the main principles of New Testament Christianity?

12 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes, yes, that's correct.

13 **MS BASIRE:** And what was required of an adult to live in the community?

14 **MR TEMPLE:** No, not to live in the community, not to live in the community, to become a  
15 partner in a partnership that was required. But we have members or people living in the  
16 community now who have not made that commitment.

17 **MS BASIRE:** Right. But you agree --

18 **COMMISSIONER ALOFIVAE:** Ms Basire, could we just clarify, Mr Temple, when you say  
19 "community", like in the Gloriavale community or community as in out in public and  
20 people come into their community?

21 **MS BASIRE:** I think, Mr Temple, you are saying that there are people who lived in the  
22 Springbank or Gloriavale communities, Christian community, who did not sign the  
23 Declaration of Commitment; is that what you meant?

24 **MR TEMPLE:** That's correct. That's correct, yes.

25 **MS BASIRE:** However, you would agree that the document What We Believe was the doctrine of  
26 the community as of 1989?

27 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes, that was what we believed, that's our interpretation of scripture, yes, what  
28 the scriptures meant.

29 **MS BASIRE:** So I just want to take you to the wording, and this, I believe, came from the  
30 Declaration of Commitment, but it's the doctrine that you and your lawyer have already  
31 mentioned that did cause a problem, and it was the doctrine that led to people not going to  
32 the Police.

33 So I'll read it out. This is in, for Mr Shannon's reference, the GLT document ended  
34 03 on page 25:

1 "I will never take this Christian community or any person in it or the church at  
2 Springbank Trust or any of its board members to any law courts or any other state  
3 authority, local body authority or anybody outside this church over any matter but will  
4 settle any dispute of any kind with any member of this church only before the leaders and  
5 brethren of this church."

6 Do you recall that?

7 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes, yes, that's correct.

8 **MS BASIRE:** And it went on to say:

9 "I will never betray any confidence about any person in this community to any  
10 person outside this community, nor share with any person outside this community any  
11 details about anyone's life here if to do so could, in the judgment of the leaders of the  
12 church, be used unjustly against the church or any of its members."

13 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes, that's correct.

14 **MS BASIRE:** Now, would you agree that having that doctrine meant that you were effectively  
15 preventing the reporting of crime?

16 **MR TEMPLE:** That was written for anyone in the church, all right, in the church, not outside the  
17 church, it didn't cover those, only the ones in the church because it refers to our brother.

18 But, looking at it like that, it must say yes, we would not report a crime to the outside.

19 **MS BASIRE:** Right. So you had a policy that prevented community members from reporting  
20 crimes to outside authorities?

21 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes, according to that word, yes, that is correct.

22 **MS BASIRE:** And everybody in the community knew of this policy, didn't they?

23 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes, that's right.

24 **MS BASIRE:** So children would have known about this policy?

25 **MR TEMPLE:** Children that -- they would know that book, What We Believe, they would know  
26 it was in the community, I presume, I presume, I would say not everybody in the  
27 community had a copy of that book. They wouldn't have. And children not expecting, I'm  
28 going to try to word this to make it clear enough to you, sorry, like, children, there's no  
29 requirement for them to know that book, because it doesn't really apply to children. I'm  
30 trying to put it to you the way I believe it myself.

31 In the church we talk about the -- it refers to the commitment and What We Believe,  
32 but we have children there that get baptised right on down to seven, eight years old, that get  
33 baptised and once they're baptised they're a member of the community, but then they're not  
34 expected to know all of this detail like this.

1 **MS BASIRE:** Yes, I understand that. I understand that the children probably wouldn't be able to  
2 quote the exact wording of the statement --

3 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes.

4 **MS BASIRE:** -- but do you agree that if this was a wide-held belief in the community that you  
5 keep everything that happens in the community inside the community, that children and  
6 young people would be well aware of that policy?

7 **MR TEMPLE:** I'd say some of them could, but this was never a book -- there was quotes from  
8 this book spoken out publicly, but the whole detail of the book was never just taught  
9 publicly.

10 **MS BASIRE:** Right, so it was taught among the adults?

11 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes. Yes, inasmuch as becoming a partner, you can become a partner at 18 years  
12 old, they would have to have read What We Believe to make a commitment. They come  
13 forth and say, "I would like to make my commitment to the church", one of the  
14 requirements is they would have read that book.

15 **MS BASIRE:** And when they made the commitment, was that made in a public, was it a  
16 public-type celebration when they made the commitment?

17 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes, it was.

18 **MS BASIRE:** In front of the whole community?

19 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes, normally it is, yes.

20 **MS BASIRE:** Do you agree that having a policy that effectively prevented people from reporting  
21 crime meant that the types of policies that government agencies applied to your community  
22 such as Police vetting were always bound to fail?

23 **MR TEMPLE:** No, no, definitely not now. That was written in 2000 -- I mean '89, that was a  
24 long time ago, that book has been rewritten a number of times.

25 **MS BASIRE:** Well, Mr Temple, I've seen a copy of the 2015 version --

26 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes.

27 **MS BASIRE:** -- and it still had the commitment that you would never take anyone in the  
28 community to the authorities. That was as late as 2015?

29 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes, okay. There's been another one written because we have seen these things,  
30 there's another volume written in 2022.

31 **MS BASIRE:** Yes, I understand that you got rid of it in 2022, but I'm just trying to establish --

32 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes.

33 **MS BASIRE:** -- that that was a policy and we have government agencies that required, for  
34 example, your school to -- and early childhood centres, to have Police vetting of people in

1 charge of children and vulnerable adults, and if no offending has ever been taken to the  
2 Police, would you agree that there was no way of the State to know who or who is not an  
3 appropriate adult to be in charge of children at Gloriavale?

4 **MR TEMPLE:** Not at this time, no, we would not believe that at all. I've taken -- I took a man to  
5 the Police myself.

6 **MS BASIRE:** If we just go back, what I'm saying is that up until when you changed your policy  
7 of going to the Police about abuse, would you agree that having the policy in place meant  
8 that when government agencies were requiring, for example, Police vets, if abuse had never  
9 been taken to the Police, then that process of checking somebody's character was  
10 prevented?

11 **MR TEMPLE:** I'm just -- I have to think here for a minute, if you'll forgive me. I'm trying to  
12 think about when Police vetting came in. Would you tell me what year that came in, can  
13 anybody, what year did the Police vetting come in?

14 **CHAIR:** Mr Temple, this is Coral Shaw here. Just to make it a little bit easier for you, I think the  
15 suggestion is being made to you that for the length of time that existed in the community  
16 when people did not have any offences revealed to the Police or other agencies, they could  
17 remain working there as teachers, or whatever, without anybody knowing, without any  
18 authority knowing. Do you agree with that?

19 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes, they could, that could have happened, could have been, yes.

20 **CHAIR:** And just to clarify, when did you remove these provisions that stopped people being  
21 reported? Was it in 2022?

22 **MR TEMPLE:** No, it was earlier than that. Thinking back, we had a meeting and we had a  
23 discussion there over -- about this verse of scripture and reporting to the Police, we had a  
24 discussion about it, we said if a person -- this is the gist of it -- if a person committed a  
25 crime, it would pertain mainly to abuse I would think, committed a crime but then we -- it  
26 was not acceptable to the community, he was going to be put out, we would ask him to go  
27 to the Police, report yourself to the Police, give him the opportunity first, but if he would  
28 not report it to the Police then we would report it.

29 **CHAIR:** Yes, I get that. But just one more question on that. Does that mean that it was up to the  
30 community to decide what should be reported to the Police?

31 **MR TEMPLE:** At that time it was, yes.

32 **CHAIR:** Thank you very much. I'll let Ms Basire carry on.

33 **MS BASIRE:** Thank you, Madam Chair.

1 I'll just move on because we do have some questions, probably this afternoon, about  
2 the 2017 policy, so it looks like your policy changed in about 2017.

3 But I just want to look at some other doctrinal beliefs that were in the 1989 version.  
4 And this relates to a person in Gloriavale's contact with their family outside Gloriavale:

5 "I forsake any family members or relatives or friends or any persons who would in  
6 any way influence me contrary to the commands of Christ and his apostles and contrary to  
7 the way of life of the church at Springbank."

8 So would you agree that there was a policy that a person who is in your community  
9 has to forsake any of their family or friends or relatives who might say anything against the  
10 teachings of your community?

11 **MR TEMPLE:** It would not be an immediate -- there would be talking and discussion and  
12 encouragement, but after that, if they refused to receive the teachings of the church, or to  
13 continue on with something that was contrary to what the Bible says to do, well then, they  
14 would cease to be a member of the church. Seeing family members, there's verses of  
15 scripture, one I will quote if I may, "If any person walks not after the traditions that you  
16 have received of us then withdraw yourself from that person."

17 Another scripture, "If anyone teaches contrary to the teachings of the church, will  
18 then reject that person." Another one, "A heretic, after the first and second admonition, to  
19 reject that person."

20 **MS BASIRE:** So I take it that your doctrine was that you -- everybody in the community was  
21 required to reject family, friends, relatives who did not follow your way of life?

22 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes, I would have to say that, yes, because our way of life was to do what the  
23 Bible says to do, keep the commandments of God.

24 **MS BASIRE:** Okay. Because in What We Believe it went on to say:

25 "I will always accept and abide by the standards and judgments of this church in all  
26 things. If any person is put out of the church, be he or she even a member of my own  
27 family, I will keep no company with that person nor eat with him."

28 **Now, do you agree that this doctrine has ensured that community members are**  
29 **effectively forbidden from contact with their wider family outside Gloriavale and**  
30 **were encouraged not to reach out to those people?**

31 **MR TEMPLE:** That was at that time. There is a difference now. There's a difference now, if  
32 someone that has been put out of the church, if they want to meet their family, members of  
33 their family, well, then, that decision is left up to the family themselves.

1 **MS BASIRE:** Right. We'll talk about what's happening now a bit later, but you'd agree that you  
2 had a community first of all that was not allowed to report any crimes happening in the  
3 community, and was effectively told that they weren't to contact people, even family  
4 members, outside the community; that's right?

5 **MR TEMPLE:** That's right, yes.

6 **MS BASIRE:** Now, another doctrine was the Doctrine of Unity, which you still have, and it's an  
7 important doctrine to the church, and I'll just read out what the 1989 version said:

8 "All true Christians should seek in every area of their lives to think and speak and  
9 act in perfect unity with every other Christian. This applies very especially to all the  
10 Christians within each local church. This applies to all the practical issues of life as well as  
11 to the beliefs and doctrines."

12 Now, I understand from that that the goal of everybody in your community is to be  
13 in perfect unity with each other?

14 **MR TEMPLE:** That is correct.

15 **MS BASIRE:** And doesn't the Doctrine of Unity make it very difficult to raise concerns because  
16 if you're in conflict with a person you're not in unity with a person?

17 **MR TEMPLE:** That is correct.

18 **MS BASIRE:** I just want to talk to you about submission. And this is a doctrine you've  
19 acknowledged may have been a part of the culture that allowed abuse to happen in your  
20 community. So submission was:

21 "Not only should Christians willingly submit themselves to their leaders, but those  
22 who are younger should willingly submit unto those who are older. This applies to every  
23 area of life and every Christian in the church."

24 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes, correct.

25 **MS BASIRE:** Christians were required to keep the Christian order of the home in which husbands  
26 love wives, wives obey husbands and children obey parents.

27 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes, correct.

28 **MS BASIRE:** And:

29 "The women at all times should be in subjection to the men and if they show  
30 outwardly, particularly when they pray, they must cover their head with a simple scarf. As  
31 regarding the preaching of the word, the passing of judgment, the teaching of doctrine or  
32 freely discussing, adding to or questioning what a brother has said, they are commanded to  
33 keep silent in the church. If they have questions about such matters, they would ask their

1 husbands at home. If a leader of the church asks a question of a woman in the church, she  
2 is free to answer him for doing so she confirms she's in subjection to him?"

3 So you have said that the doctrine of submission may have been misinterpreted by  
4 children and young people in your community. Would you agree that your doctrine of  
5 subjection of children to adults, women to men and men to leaders has created a belief  
6 system where it was almost impossible for a child or young person to raise concerns?

7 **MR TEMPLE:** It was never meant to. It was never meant to, and I'm just trying to think of what  
8 situation, of my knowledge of it happening or being taken to that degree, because I'm  
9 speaking and I speak publicly, if anyone has a problem come and talk to me about it. I've  
10 stated that publicly. And the Bible does say if there are women to keep silence in the  
11 church and have any questions to ask their husbands at home, but -- I'm just trying to think  
12 just how that is applied. I can't remember it being taught that way in the church, if I'm  
13 understanding you correctly.

14 **MS BASIRE:** Well, I'm reading from your document. You do agree, though, and you've said this  
15 in your written notice, that you now realise in the minds of a child that that would create a  
16 power imbalance?

17 **MR TEMPLE:** Create a power imbalance? There is a power imbalance without anything  
18 creating it between an adult and a young person. There is a power imbalance there  
19 automatically without anything being said.

20 **MS BASIRE:** There is, isn't there? And if you live in a community where you know that your  
21 mother's not even allowed to speak out in church, and that she should just dutifully ask her  
22 husband at home, would you agree that the children of that community may not feel  
23 comfortable with raising issues such as sexual abuse to leaders of that community?

24 **MR TEMPLE:** That could be possible, yes, that could be possible.

25 **MS BASIRE:** Thank you.

26 **MR TEMPLE:** Children in their thinking, it could happen. "My mother is not allowed to speak  
27 in the church, so am I allowed to speak in the church?" They could interpret it that way  
28 very much so.

29 **MS BASIRE:** One more belief from that 1989 document was about travel and this is on page 109  
30 of the original document:

31 "No decision should be made about travel away from the church by any member of  
32 the church without reference to the leaders and brethren of the church. No Christian should  
33 travel away from the church for any purpose whatsoever, whether it be on some spiritual

1 commission, on a commercial business activity, or some private matter or for any other  
2 reason unless he goes with the full approval and blessing of the leaders of the church."

3 So you and Mr Christian and Mr Courage set up this doctrine that gave almost total  
4 control to the leaders over the community to the extent that you had to ask to leave the  
5 community? Would you agree?

6 **MR TEMPLE:** I'm trying to think of the context in which that was written. Yeah, I can agree  
7 with that at that time, yes, that was written there.

8 **MS BASIRE:** Because that doesn't seem to be based on anything in the Bible, does it?

9 **MR TEMPLE:** Only submitting yourself one to another in the fear of God.

10 **MS BASIRE:** I can't imagine, and maybe you can help me, any reason why a person in your  
11 community would have to have the full approval or blessing to physically leave the place  
12 that they were living?

13 **MR TEMPLE:** Our interpretation of that one is why, what is the problem with talking about what  
14 you are doing? Is there a reason why you don't want the leadership to know what you were  
15 doing or where you were going? And being open, open before our brethren, sharing,  
16 communicating with one another.

17 **MS BASIRE:** Well, the policy doesn't say if you leave -- and this was written in the times of  
18 Springbank -- if you leave the Springbank premises it would be good to write a note so we  
19 know where you are. The policy says that no travel from any member of the church may  
20 happen, whether it's on spiritual, commercial or private or any reason without the full  
21 approval and blessing of the leaders of the church. So it's not about communication, is it,  
22 about where you are; it's about control, isn't it?

23 **MR TEMPLE:** Okay, yes, from what is written there, yes. It's not about full control though, it's  
24 about communication. What is your aim? Why were you going?

25 **MS BASIRE:** Now, this is only -- sorry, I'll let you finish.

26 **MR TEMPLE:** Sorry. It's just a matter of why you're going, and if you look at it this way, we're  
27 members there together, we're a community of people, we're one big family. That is the  
28 way we look at it, we're one big family. And what's going on in the church, in the  
29 community there, is everybody's business, not just my business, but it's everybody's  
30 business what I do, where I go.

31 **MS BASIRE:** Well, in a normal family -- sorry, carry on.

32 **MR TEMPLE:** What's being said and written there, what is the problem with somebody or  
33 everybody, what is the problem with them knowing where I'm going and why I'm going  
34 there? It was the spirit of the thing, a spirit of unity, of bringing people together, becoming

1           one body, becoming of one mind and one judgment, unity and so forth and so on, it was the  
2           spirit of the thing.

3   **MS BASIRE:** Well, would you agree as it reads it shows a control and power structure from  
4           leaders to the people?

5   **MR TEMPLE:** To a degree, yes, to a degree.

6   **MS BASIRE:** So this is a small snapshot of the 118 pages that I have highlighted. There's one  
7           other that I want to highlight which is about leaders.

8           Now, I understand, and this is a quote:

9           "It's not God's plan that the leaders in the Christian church should be chosen or  
10          elected by the people, but they should be called and chosen by the Lord Jesus Christ."

11          So I understand from that there's never been any elected leaders in your Christian  
12          church?

13   **MR TEMPLE:** That's correct, yes.

14   **MS BASIRE:** And Hopeful Christian effectively appointed himself as the leader chosen by the  
15          Lord?

16   **MR TEMPLE:** Yes.

17   **MS BASIRE:** And in the document he wrote, and this is about leaders, this is on page 51, he said:

18          "A leader in the church of Jesus Christ, whether he be a bishop, a pastor or teacher  
19          in a local church, or a prophet or an apostle must be blameless as the steward of God."

20          And it goes on to say:

21          "The principal leader must give account to God for the state of every soul in the  
22          church and for all the affairs of the church. He must be given authority by everyone he  
23          oversees in every aspect of life and he may make any decision on his own and involve as  
24          few or as many people as he chooses in making his decision."

25          So effectively the leader is chosen by God, they're answerable to God, and  
26          everybody in the community must give that person the authority because he's been given  
27          the responsibility of looking after everybody on behalf of God. Have I sort of summarised  
28          that properly?

29   **MR TEMPLE:** Yes, I think so, yes.

30   **MS BASIRE:** So there's this community that has been set up by Mr Christian, he's set himself up  
31          as the leader?

32   **MR TEMPLE:** Sorry.

33   **MS BASIRE:** So he sets up the community and he sets himself up as leader; is that correct?

34   **MR TEMPLE:** He was invited to take the leadership of that church.

1 **MS BASIRE:** So there was a type of election?

2 **MR TEMPLE:** I suppose you could put it that way. He was invited to take the leadership of that  
3 church, yes.

4 **MS BASIRE:** And then -- but after that point he wrote a document that said that what we believe  
5 is that leaders aren't elected and then from then on there's never been any elected leaders,  
6 have there?

7 **MR TEMPLE:** That's correct, yes.

8 **MS BASIRE:** So would you agree that the doctrine that Hopeful Christian wrote and you fully  
9 took on board set the scene for the sexual abuse and physical abuse that has happened in  
10 your community that we're about to talk about?

11 **MR TEMPLE:** No, I don't believe that.

12 **MS BASIRE:** You do not accept that by having a policy which prevented people reporting  
13 matters to the Police, that that policy didn't in any way impact the level of abuse that's  
14 happened in Gloriavale?

15 **MR TEMPLE:** I don't think that one did, I've misunderstood you what you meant; you asked me  
16 about the preventing people, opened the door, or whatever the exact words you said,  
17 opened it up for abuse happening, we're talking about the election of leaders, and I can't  
18 connect the two.

19 **MS BASIRE:** Right, but I was just, and perhaps I need to be a bit clearer, there's a group of  
20 doctrines that I've highlighted. One, it is the first one we talked about, is never take anyone  
21 to the law?

22 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes.

23 **MS BASIRE:** The second one is the doctrine of not communicating with family members or  
24 friends outside the Christian church?

25 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes, yes, correct.

26 **MS BASIRE:** The third one is the doctrine of unity where all Christians need to speak together?

27 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes.

28 **MS BASIRE:** And then the fourth one was the lack of -- the having to ask for permission to go  
29 away from the church?

30 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes.

31 **MS BASIRE:** And then the fifth one was fact that the leaders from the time of Hopeful Christian  
32 have never been elected.

33 So when you look at those doctrines together, do you agree that the effect of those  
34 doctrines allowed abuse to occur and continue at Gloriavale?

- 1 **MR TEMPLE:** No, no, I don't believe that, I don't believe that, I'm looking at our whole way of  
2 life and I don't think that it's the cause of it.
- 3 **MS BASIRE:** So you don't believe that your doctrines were the cause of the abuse?
- 4 **MR TEMPLE:** No, I don't. I don't -- a way of life more so than doctrine would have helped that  
5 one.
- 6 **MS BASIRE:** Just on that policy about not going to the Police, what age were you when you first  
7 joined Gloriavale? You must have been, what, 40, something like that?
- 8 **MR TEMPLE:** Only 30.
- 9 **MS BASIRE:** 30?
- 10 **MR TEMPLE:** 30 years old, yes.
- 11 **MS BASIRE:** But you had had experience of life outside the Christian community church, hadn't  
12 you?
- 13 **MR TEMPLE:** I had, I'm sorry, could you repeat that, I'm sorry?
- 14 **MS BASIRE:** You had experience of life outside the church?
- 15 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes, that's correct.
- 16 **MS BASIRE:** Why didn't you question this doctrine of not taking people to the authorities?
- 17 **MR TEMPLE:** Because of verses, scriptures there in the Bible, and I took that as not taking a  
18 brother, not taking a brother to the authorities, and I just took it the way it read. Why do  
19 you take a brother to the authorities? Why don't you allow him to be judged among the  
20 brethren of the church? And that's where we were doing things at that time. We were  
21 making judgments and decisions in the church, a group of people, a group of men sitting  
22 and making those judgments.
- 23 **MS BASIRE:** Right. So it was a group of men making judgments --
- 24 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes.
- 25 **MS BASIRE:** -- about other people's behaviour in the church?
- 26 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes, that's correct. According to the Bible.
- 27 **MS BASIRE:** According to the Bible. Now, I understand that when matters of abuse were raised,  
28 you and this other group of men, including Mr Christian, would seek for the offender to  
29 repent?
- 30 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes, that's correct.
- 31 **MS BASIRE:** And the victim to forgive?
- 32 **MR TEMPLE:** That's correct, yes.
- 33 **MS BASIRE:** I understand that for victims, that meant they had to appear in a room in front of  
34 perhaps five leaders and be told to forgive their offender?

1 **MR TEMPLE:** I'm trying to think of an example of that. I remember -- I remember in one case  
2 the congregation was the people, I'm trying to think, was it -- I'm sorry, my memory, I'm  
3 trying to remember this, whether it was the whole congregation or just the adults, married  
4 people. But anyway that group and they were just asked if they could forgive this person  
5 for what he had done.

6 **MS BASIRE:** So it's possibly in front of the whole congregation?

7 **MR TEMPLE:** Possibly, yes, possibly yes.

8 **MS BASIRE:** Looking back, can you understand what impact that that may have had on a victim?

9 **MR TEMPLE:** I do now, yes, I do. I've learned a little bit since that time.

10 **MS BASIRE:** And then the offender, was he made to repent in front of the congregation?

11 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes, he stood up and spoke himself before the congregation.

12 **MS BASIRE:** And then what would happen to him?

13 **MR TEMPLE:** He was put aside outside of the community.

14 **MS BASIRE:** I understand that that would be for a short period only?

15 **MR TEMPLE:** I think it was twice he was put outside the community. The second time, he's still  
16 outside of the community. This particular instance I think might have been the second  
17 time.

18 **MS BASIRE:** And that particular instance, was that sexual abuse that we're talking about?

19 **MR TEMPLE:** It was presumed, you could presume it to be sexual abuse, there was nothing  
20 actually happened, he says he never touched the girl, she said that he did. But it was in the  
21 building, it was not a place that person would have (inaudible) -- well, I suppose you could  
22 call it sexual abuse. He said his intentions were wrong but nothing ever happened. And  
23 under the circumstances I could agree with him nothing happened in that situation  
24 physically.

25 **MS BASIRE:** Right. So, concentrating on that example, that's an example where you and the  
26 other leaders decided, sort of investigated yourself and figured out what you thought might  
27 have happened or not happened, rather than go to the Police?

28 **MR TEMPLE:** That's correct, yes.

29 **MS BASIRE:** And then you required the victim to forgive him and he was required to repent and  
30 he was stood aside for a short time?

31 **MR TEMPLE:** That was expected, yes.

32 **MS BASIRE:** And only when the second time he was put out again, and he hasn't come back; is  
33 that right?

1 **MR TEMPLE:** That's right. The Police came in on that one, the Police come in on that one and  
2 they put a safety plan on him and that safety plan is still on him, that he's not to come back  
3 to the community.

4 **MS BASIRE:** In your response to Notice to Produce which was dated 4 July, for everyone's  
5 reference this is document ended 144, at paragraph 5 in that response you've said, and I  
6 believe your counsel repeated it in his opening:

7 "Until the mid-1990s Hopeful Christian dealt with complaints and confessions of  
8 sexual abuse or physical abuse. He kept this information to himself and it died with him  
9 when he passed away in 2018. When the large leadership team was set up in 1990s, a few  
10 other men were included in this discussion about how to handle these issues, but no written  
11 records were ever kept. The greatest limitation to the extent of the knowledge was the  
12 reluctance of victims to speak up."

13 Just before we go to the lunch break, you would agree that you were part of that  
14 large leadership team?

15 **MR TEMPLE:** I would have been, yes.

16 **MS BASIRE:** And in fact, you were one of three leaders from 1985, weren't you?

17 **MR TEMPLE:** That's correct, yes.

18 **MS BASIRE:** And isn't it true that Hopeful Christian would have told you about complaints and  
19 confessions of sexual and physical abuse in that time before he was convicted?

20 **MR TEMPLE:** Not particularly, not particularly, no. Because he, back at that time he dealt with  
21 a lot of issues just on his own.

22 **MS BASIRE:** You would have been aware at least that he was dealing with them on his own; is  
23 that correct?

24 **MR TEMPLE:** Not particularly, no. He could know of something that I knew nothing about.

25 **MS BASIRE:** So how do you know that up until the mid-90s he dealt with them himself? If there  
26 was no written records kept and he never told you, how do you know that information?

27 **MR TEMPLE:** I don't know that he did, I know that he would have, if it arose he would have, or  
28 he would have or he could have done it without my knowledge, that's what I'm saying. I  
29 don't know that he did, but I just know that it's the way things worked because  
30 I knew -- I know of him dealing with other things without including me, things that could  
31 be discussed, could be discussed among the congregation.

32 **MS BASIRE:** After the break we're going to talk about the extent of sexual and physical abuse  
33 that have happened in your community. But Mr Temple, you must have been aware that  
34 things were happening in your community before Mr Christian got sent to prison?

1 **MR TEMPLE:** Sexual abuse, I can't remember, I can't remember anything, any sexual abuse  
2 happening at that time. I can't say it didn't happen, because doing this sort of thing, they  
3 don't do it in public, but I don't remember knowing of anything happening.

4 **MS BASIRE:** What about physical abuse?

5 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes, physical abuse, yes.

6 **MS BASIRE:** So you knew about physical abuse?

7 **MR TEMPLE:** This was more talk -- more people knew about it, like with sexual abuse, it can be  
8 kept pretty well quiet, it could happen only between the two people and neither one of them  
9 broadcast it out, that's quite possible, but other things like physical abuse, yes, if somebody  
10 do it in front of somebody, or give a child a hiding or something like that, it would be done  
11 out in the open.

12 **MS BASIRE:** We're going to talk about that after the break, but you've said the greatest limitation  
13 to the extent of the knowledge was the reluctance of victims to speak up. Would you agree  
14 that that is actually victim blaming?

15 **MR TEMPLE:** It could be interpreted that way, yes, because the victim hasn't spoken up, that  
16 could be interpreted that way, but not particularly meant that way. If the victim had spoken  
17 up -- I'm sorry, carry on.

18 **MS BASIRE:** I'm sorry, I cut across you. You finish.

19 **MR TEMPLE:** The victim could not have spoken up and out of fear or some reason like that,  
20 I wouldn't blame her for not speaking up.

21 **MS BASIRE:** Wasn't the greatest limitation to the extent of knowledge the behaviour of the  
22 leadership by not reporting matters to the Police and involving authorities right from the  
23 start?

24 **MR TEMPLE:** I think you're correct, that would have prevented a lot of it happening, because  
25 when the Police got a hold of it -- now, we were more casual in our investigation -- but the  
26 Police came in and they got right into it and dug right down to the roots of the thing and  
27 discovered things that we would never have imagined, never thought had been happening.

28 **MS BASIRE:** Well, with respect, Hopeful Christian was investigated for sexual offending in  
29 1993, he went to trial twice in 1995, was in prison for four years for sexual offending and  
30 you continued to have a policy of not reporting matters to the Police?

31 **MR TEMPLE:** I'm trying to -- yes, yes, that policy would have still been in force at that time, I'm  
32 trying to think, because we had a discussion that would have been after that, yes. That's  
33 correct.

1 **MS BASIRE:** I think now is a good time to take the break. We'll take a break, Madam Chair,  
2 until 2 o'clock?

3 **CHAIR:** Yes, thank you, everybody. Thank you, Mr Temple and Ms Stedfast, we will take a  
4 break now and if you could be available again at 2 o'clock. Thank you.

5 **MR TEMPLE:** Thank you.

6 **Lunch adjournment from 1.04 pm to 2.03 pm**

7 **CHAIR:** Nau mai hoki mai ki a koutou katoa. Thank you for returning, and thank you to you,  
8 Mr Temple and Ms Stedfast, for being available this afternoon.

9 Ms Basire.

10 **QUESTIONING BY MS BASIRE CONTINUED:** Thank you, Madam Chair.

11 Mr Temple, these next questions are around the sexual and physical abuse that has  
12 happened in Gloriavale during the time that both you and Mr Christian were leaders.

13 First of all, I want to talk about the Police Operation Minneapolis.

14 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes.

15 **MS BASIRE:** Now, I understand that was prompted by an incident that happened in 2020; is that  
16 right?

17 **MR TEMPLE:** That's correct, yes.

18 **MS BASIRE:** And the Police investigated and you, as leader, cooperated with their investigation,  
19 didn't you?

20 **MR TEMPLE:** That's correct, yes.

21 **MS BASIRE:** You gave us a document that was a briefing paper between the Police and a  
22 meeting of the leaders in August 2020, and I'm just going to summarise some of that for  
23 those who are listening.

24 The Police advised that 61 young people were identified as involved in what they  
25 called harmful sexual behaviour, either as offenders, peers or victims. 20%, approximately,  
26 of those 61 young people had been involved with one other person, 75% had been involved  
27 with two to four other people, and the remaining 20% had been involved with five or more  
28 young people; and what the Police said was the top tier of identified offenders had very  
29 large numbers of victims, for example the most serious having 27 victims.

30 They noted that many offenders began as victims to older boys and they noted that  
31 there was a spate of offending in 2015 and then there'd been another peak in 2020 during  
32 the lockdown period.

33 Is that a fairly accurate description of what you recall?

1 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes, yes, the one in 2015, I can't particularly recall that one, but I don't deny that  
2 at all, I don't deny that at all.

3 **MS BASIRE:** The Police in that document went on to say under the heading "Intergenerational":  
4 "The Police have identified that the offending is a practice that has not begun with  
5 this generation. There is evidence of it occurring at least at the level of indecent acts and  
6 oral sex in the mid-20s generation and older males in their 30s. During the course of this  
7 investigation it has become clear that a number of parents, both male and female, who are  
8 trying to support their own children are victims of sexual offending. This is impacting on  
9 their own ability to support the children and causing stress to those parents.

10 Do you accept there has been intergenerational sexual abuse in your community?

11 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes, I accept that on the Police's report, I do.

12 **MS BASIRE:** We received a number of witness statements for our hearing. One of those witness  
13 statements was a lawyer, Louise Taylor, who'd interviewed 20 former members of the  
14 community and what she said, and this is paragraph 5.3.3 of her statement:

15 "Most girls and women reported to me that they had been sexually abused in the  
16 community and they knew of others that had been sexually abused. Some said that they'd  
17 been abused by multiple men and others by the same man on multiple occasions over a  
18 period of time."

19 She goes on to say:

20 "Most of the men said that they knew of women who had been sexually abused in  
21 the community and a few stated they had been sexually abused themselves and were aware  
22 of men sexually abusing boys in the community."

23 Louise Taylor said she did not speak to anyone who said that he or she was not  
24 aware of sexual abuse in the community.

25 So do you accept that the statements of the survivors who, in the most part, are  
26 leavers of Gloriavale, is consistent with the Police investigation in 2020 into your own  
27 community?

28 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes, I can accept it. Details, the Police didn't convey to me, because they operate  
29 under a confidential clause and they couldn't pass too much on to me, but going through  
30 what bit did I do, or I did get hold of, that report that you're reading from there, as well, it  
31 had been going on for quite a period of time.

32 **MS BASIRE:** Yes, and I do understand that neither you nor I have the details. The point I was  
33 making was whether you accepted Operation Minneapolis was an investigation into people  
34 currently living in Gloriavale and --

1 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes.

2 **MS BASIRE:** -- the survivor statements we took were from people who have left Gloriavale, and  
3 there seems to be a consistent theme between what the Police found and what our survivors  
4 are telling us. Would you agree?

5 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes, I agree. I cannot deny any accusations there because I know and I accept  
6 from their report that it was quite an ongoing thing going back for a period of time.

7 I accept what you're saying there at the present time, yes.

8 **MS BASIRE:** Thank you. The survivors who have spoken to the Commission talk about a  
9 sexualised culture both in Springbank and Gloriavale which was brought about by Hopeful  
10 Christian. Do you accept that there was a sexualised culture amongst your community?

11 **MR TEMPLE:** I'm not sure just what -- how broad a sexualised culture, just what all of that  
12 covers, I'm not sure what -- gay sex, as well as sex, talk of sex, yes, had been carried on  
13 from the beginning to one degree or the other, teachings on sex, discussions on sex and so  
14 forth and so on. The culture, I don't know of the any actual acts going back that far, I don't  
15 know of them. I can't say they never happened, I can only say I don't know of them.

16 **MS BASIRE:** I'll break it down for you because that was a really broad question, I accept.

17 So survivors have told us at meal times, and I'll just stop there, up until very  
18 recently all meals were communal; is that right?

19 **MR TEMPLE:** Up until recent times, yes, they were.

20 **MS BASIRE:** So survivors have told us:

21 "At meals where members weren't allowed to speak, I was told that Hopeful and  
22 other leaders would often take the microphone and talk about their own sexual exploits and  
23 this was seen as a way of honouring their wives."

24 Do you recall that happening in your community?

25 **MR TEMPLE:** Honestly I don't, but that doesn't mean it didn't happen either, so you're going on  
26 my memory and it's not excellent at the present time. Anyway, I can't say it didn't happen,  
27 I can only say I don't remember it happening. And I'm being honest with you.

28 **MS BASIRE:** Yes. The survivors go on to say:

29 "Hopeful would take this opportunity to remind members that men had a higher  
30 sexual drive than women so it was up to women to prevent sexual assaults. They were to  
31 do this by controlling their -- meaning the women's -- behaviour, their location and their  
32 presentation in order to prevent sexual reactions from men and boys."

33 Do you recall that?

34 **MR TEMPLE:** I recall that type -- that kind of talk being -- going on, yes, I recall that.

1 **MS BASIRE:** Yes.

2 **MR TEMPLE:** Because that was carried on, not going back too far, beyond my memory.

3 **MS BASIRE:** So you recall, for example, girls being told that they should run in such a way that  
4 their skirts didn't flick up?

5 **MR TEMPLE:** Not particularly that, but it could have been said, maybe not even in my presence,  
6 but still have been said, and other things that convey that girls, if you did this or if did you  
7 that, or don't do this or don't do that. Because that was -- that was spoken of, yes.

8 **MS BASIRE:** And that is one of the reasons why the women at Gloriavale wear the iconic blue  
9 dress that goes down to their ankles, is that right, to cover their body?

10 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes, yes, the Bible speaks of modest, dress with modesty, and going back -- and  
11 that was considered a modest way to dress going back quite a period of time, and it was a  
12 hangover, or however you put it, a result of the dress in those days with the mini skirt being  
13 a very short skirt, a result of -- and that mode of dress is what brought about our going to  
14 modest apparel, that was discussed for quite a long time and in more than one discussion:  
15 What is modesty? And we come to a conclusion, well, okay, if we go down to ankle length  
16 anyway, we can't say it's not modest, could we.

17 And along --

18 **MS BASIRE:** So you're saying -- sorry.

19 **MR TEMPLE:** Along with that, the same applied to men, men would not wear short trousers and  
20 they would keep their shirts down and buttoned up.

21 **MS BASIRE:** So you're saying that the culture that you were living in in the 1960s where women  
22 were wearing miniskirts prompted this discussion about what the Bible meant about  
23 modesty?

24 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes, yes, that would be the Bible speaking, definitely that the women would be in  
25 modest apparel --

26 **MS BASIRE:** Do you --

27 **MR TEMPLE:** I'm sorry.

28 **MS BASIRE:** No, it's okay. Do you accept that women bore the responsibility to prevent being a  
29 victim by being fully covered?

30 **MR TEMPLE:** I don't think that the women have to bear all responsibility for it at all, definitely  
31 not.

32 **MS BASIRE:** Do you accept that for those young women in particular they may have felt, due to  
33 this belief about modesty, that it was their fault if they were sexually assaulted?

1 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes, that could be conveyed but not just because of the modesty, but other things.  
2 There's actions that a girl could take, that action could attract the attention of a boy. Now,  
3 that type of teaching was done. And it was brought forth that a girl should be careful how  
4 she handled herself.

5 **MS BASIRE:** Right. Just going back to Hopeful Christian, we've also been told by a number of  
6 people that Mr Christian didn't confine himself to speaking about sexual practices in the  
7 community, he also involved himself in members' lives on a far more personal level. We  
8 have been told that he required to be present in the room when married couples first  
9 consummated their marriage; is that correct?

10 **MR TEMPLE:** I don't know, I don't know of that one at all, I don't know, honestly, I don't know  
11 of that, if that happened. And of course I wasn't in the room myself so what happened  
12 there, honestly, I'm sorry I can't say one way or the other. All I can say is I never saw it.

13 **MS BASIRE:** Did you hear people talking about it in your community?

14 **MR TEMPLE:** No, not to that extent, not of that actually happening.

15 **MS BASIRE:** Well, we're told that not only was he in the room when young couples  
16 consummated their marriage, if he couldn't make it, he would ask them to videotape  
17 themselves so he could review it later. Had you heard of that practice?

18 **MR TEMPLE:** I heard of the practice of videoing it themselves, but it was conveyed in a  
19 personal manner, that it was between husband and the wife. Now, about him reviewing it  
20 later on, I never heard anything like that.

21 **MS BASIRE:** We know in 1993 the Police started investigating Hopeful Christian for sexual  
22 offending against a number of complainants. You would recall that?

23 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes, I do.

24 **MS BASIRE:** This coincided with the community's move to Haupiri on the West Coast. Looking  
25 back, was there any link between the move of the community and the Police investigating  
26 him?

27 **MR TEMPLE:** I don't know of any, I don't know of any.

28 **MS BASIRE:** He was tried in 1995 against a number of complainants, found guilty, successfully  
29 appealed to the Court of Appeal and on the retrial the Crown decided to go ahead with only  
30 one of the victims. He was found guilty and sentenced to four years imprisonment. I  
31 understand that he served approximately 11 months in prison; is that correct?

32 **MR TEMPLE:** Approximately, I can't give you an exact length of time now. It wasn't the four  
33 years anyway.

1 **MS BASIRE:** Who was the leader of the community when he was in prison; was it you,  
2 Mr Temple?

3 **MR TEMPLE:** It was David Courage.

4 **MS BASIRE:** Right. I just want to read out what one of the witnesses, and this is witness number  
5 2 in her supplementary statement, what she says about that time:

6 "The Gloriavale community were never told about the true nature of Hopeful's  
7 convictions. Right from the start when the court case was still happening they began  
8 feeding us lies. The leaders told us that Hopeful was being persecuted for his faith, that the  
9 outside world didn't like him because he was a Christian preacher and that's why they were  
10 putting him in jail. It wasn't just one or two people saying this, it was all the leaders,  
11 Howard Temple, Fervent Stedfast and Faithful Pilgrim. They even included it in preaching  
12 on Sundays. We were always warned not to believe any stories we heard about why  
13 Hopeful was in jail because they were all lies. They were conditioning the community not  
14 to believe it even if they did hear something. People in the community still believe this.

15 As a child I remember visiting hopeful in prison. I was about 9 or 10 years old.  
16 Every Sunday one or two families would be taken to visit him. Eventually as an adult  
17 I started asking questions. My husband asked to speak to Hopeful Christian about  
18 questions we had, including whether it was true he went to jail for sexual offences.  
19 Hopeful said nothing much and that night they made my husband leave Gloriavale."

20 I just want to ask you some questions about that statement. What was the  
21 community told about Hopeful Christian's trials and his imprisonment?

22 **MR TEMPLE:** I'm just trying to -- going back on my memory. I mean, I know using my  
23 memory can be a good excuse for not answering the question, isn't it? It could be, but it's  
24 not an excuse, it's not a reason, it's not my reason. Honestly, I'm a bit weak in my memory  
25 now, it could be to do with my age, but I remember very little being said about it, very little  
26 being said -- in the statement that you just made, excuse me. But I don't remember  
27 anybody being put out because of that. I think I would remember that because that would  
28 be a case of the person being brought before a meeting and the issue being discussed, that  
29 was our normal procedure. Before anybody was put out, we'd go through quite a process of  
30 talking with them and many times it would be giving them a warning and then -- there was  
31 quite a process, it wasn't, "Oh, you did this so out you go." It wasn't that simple and  
32 straightforward. In any (inaudible) that I was ever involved in, in anything I can remember,  
33 it wasn't that short and straightforward.

1 **MS BASIRE:** Mr Temple, if we had more time I could give you some more detail around that that  
2 would prompt your memory, because as I understand, you did have some involvement in  
3 that case. I think the more important point that I want to talk about is --

4 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes.

5 **MS BASIRE:** -- what did you tell people in your community as to why Hopeful Christian was in  
6 prison? Did you tell your community that he had been convicted for sexually offending  
7 against a Gloriavale young woman in 1984?

8 **MR TEMPLE:** Not to those details, but I don't doubt, and I would most certainly want to believe  
9 and believe that I would have told them the truth, that he was convicted on sexual abuse.

10 **MS BASIRE:** Is it possible that you --

11 **MR TEMPLE:** Now, what and who -- I'm sorry, carry on.

12 **MS BASIRE:** Is it possible that you did tell the community at the time that he was being  
13 persecuted for his religious beliefs?

14 **MR TEMPLE:** It would be very unlikely, very unlikely, because I don't think that way.

15 I wouldn't think that way. I know it comes out, even today, somebody will say all these  
16 court cases is because of our beliefs, we're being persecuted, but I don't think that way. All  
17 these court cases are because of actions, things that have happened in the community, that's  
18 why we're going through these court cases and so forth, not because of a persecution  
19 because of our beliefs, and I can't remember ever thinking that way, I don't know why I  
20 would say that to a person.

21 **MS BASIRE:** Do you recall any of the other leaders telling the community that Hopeful Christian  
22 was in prison because of his religious beliefs?

23 **MR TEMPLE:** I can't remember that one, hearing that type of thing said. Now, I don't doubt that  
24 it was said, I don't doubt it was because other people could think that way and they could  
25 speak that way. I can't remember hearing it, but this is just going on my understanding of  
26 people, and our people.

27 **MS BASIRE:** So you accept that that could have been said, that people in Gloriavale, both then  
28 and now, may still -- may have believed and may still believe that he was in prison for  
29 religious persecution, not for being a sex offender?

30 **MR TEMPLE:** I would think he could have been involved in both. It doesn't fit that he  
31 would -- knowing that he was in prison because of sexual abuse and he's in prison because  
32 of persecution, I don't see things that way, I don't see all the happenings today is because of  
33 being persecuted because of our faith. I can't comment a lot on that one, I'm sorry.

1 **MS BASIRE:** Well, what we do know is that he served a third of his sentence and came back to  
2 Gloriavale on parole. Do you remember that bit?

3 **MR TEMPLE:** I remember him coming back to Gloriavale, I don't remember on parole though. I  
4 would stand corrected, if Rachel here could help me on it.

5 You were a young girl at that time, weren't you? I don't remember a parole.

6 **MS BASIRE:** Do you agree that he wasn't away from the community for four years, was he?

7 **MR TEMPLE:** No, he wasn't.

8 **MS BASIRE:** No, and so he was given a four-year sentence, so what that means is he would have  
9 been on parole for the length of his sentence. You may not have understood that, but --

10 **MR TEMPLE:** That's possible. But there's a report on the case when he came up for parole, and  
11 the parole officer was reported to have said he should have never been in prison and the  
12 parole officer says, "You will go home today", and he was brought home that day.

13 **MS BASIRE:** So your memory is that a person from the Department of Corrections -- is that  
14 something that was told to you? Do you remember the parole officer, or is that something  
15 that's been told to you?

16 **MR TEMPLE:** I'm sorry, I don't remember anything, I've got a paper written by a person that was  
17 there. Now, whether he told a bunch of lies or not, I don't think so, I don't have any reason  
18 to believe that he would be lying about the matter.

19 **MS BASIRE:** Right. So this is of interest to the Commission, because one of the things that we're  
20 interested in is how abuse in care happens and the intersection with State authorities. Now,  
21 we don't have that document, but you would agree that there was no opposition from the  
22 Department of Corrections letting a convicted sex offender go to an isolated rural  
23 community and take over its leadership?

24 **MR TEMPLE:** I don't know of any opposition at all to it.

25 **MS BASIRE:** Was there any --

26 **MR TEMPLE:** I've got nothing written, I do have a report written about it from a person that was  
27 there at the time of the parole. I wasn't there, but I've got confidence in what this person  
28 wrote was what was said there in the room.

29 **MS BASIRE:** Was there any opposition from David Courage or yourself as leaders to Hopeful  
30 Christian coming back and resuming his leadership of the community?

31 **MR TEMPLE:** No, there wasn't any opposition.

32 **MS BASIRE:** And you have already told us that that policy of not reporting abuse to outside  
33 authorities continued until very recent times; isn't that right?

34 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes.

1 **MS BASIRE:** Effectively until his death?

2 **MR TEMPLE:** I can't remember the date, it was well after that prison sentence anyway. It was  
3 well after that.

4 **MS BASIRE:** I just want to turn to talk about physical abuse. We have received a number of  
5 witness statements that talk about physical abuse, and before the break you said that you  
6 were aware of physical abuse because it would often happen in public; is that correct?

7 **MR TEMPLE:** This goes back to smacking children.

8 **MS BASIRE:** Yeah. So I just want to talk to you about what some of our survivors have said  
9 about smacking children.

10 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes.

11 **MS BASIRE:** This comes initially from Louise Taylor's statement and she's summarising what  
12 the 20 people she interviewed have said:

13 "Most survivors describe physical punishment as being the first choice of parents in  
14 the community until fairly recently. One survivor stated every home in Gloriavale had an  
15 instrument that would be used for beating children. We were beaten with whatever was  
16 close at hand. The beatings could happen anywhere in private or in public. It was unusual  
17 for a child at Gloriavale to go a week without a hiding."

18 Do you recall those years?

19 **MR TEMPLE:** No, I can recall children getting a hiding, that definitely happened. There was a  
20 time come when that ceased to happen, but before that, yes, it was common for -- I mean,  
21 I gave my own children a hiding. But going on back years ago, What We Believe was  
22 written in '89, the anti-smacking bill came in after that one, but now there's other --

23 **MS BASIRE:** I'll just stop you there. What's your definition of giving a child a hiding?

24 **MR TEMPLE:** Well, when they've done something wrong, they were disobedient or whatever  
25 the case might be, somebody might take a strap and give them a hiding with a strap, it  
26 might be with their hand or, say, a switch or something like that.

27 **MS BASIRE:** All right. So with weapons?

28 **MR TEMPLE:** Weapons, yes.

29 **MS BASIRE:** We don't have time to go into it, but even before 2007 there was a limit to parental  
30 discipline or corporal punishment. So you would agree with the survivors' statements that  
31 the children would be beaten with a strap or a stick?

32 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes, I would say it could happen. I'm trying to remember actually seeing it  
33 happen, but it could have happened.

34 **MS BASIRE:** Louise Taylor's statement goes on with another example:

1 "They, the parents, would hit us with their hands or whatever they could reach,  
2 including electrical cords, hairbrushes, knitting needles, and this always left bruises on my  
3 bottom, legs and back."

4 Then that witness went on to say:

5 "For example, when I was 16 years old I was talking to a person..."

6 Whose name is deleted in the statement. Clearly her father didn't want her speaking  
7 to this person who I assume was a young male:

8 "...my father took me to the bin of electrical cords and made me choose one. He  
9 then whipped me with it until I fainted. I was bruised and swollen for months because of  
10 this. After the beating, my father threatened to whip my younger brother if I was observed  
11 talking to that person again."

12 Another survivor says:

13 "There was a normalisation of physical abuse in the community."

14 She said:

15 "As an example of how the process of normalisation occurs, I never considered my  
16 father to be an abusive man, but there was an occasion when he entered the room of a  
17 family whose baby was crying. He belted their eight- or nine-month-old baby very hard  
18 about five times and the baby went straight to sleep, so my siblings and I internalised this as  
19 an example of good parenting. Of course now I realise it was abusive."

20 So prior to the 2007 anti-smacking law, would you agree that this was widespread  
21 in your community?

22 **MR TEMPLE:** No, I wouldn't agree that it was widespread, but I wouldn't disagree that it never  
23 happened. I wouldn't say that at all, in the cases that you've read, and I read those in the  
24 paper as well, but I don't know, that does sound like a -- a man going into somebody else's  
25 room and smacking a child that young, that sounds so foreign and so unlikely, and how  
26 could anybody do that? That's all I can say, because I haven't got cameras or anything in  
27 every room in the hostels there. I don't see everything that goes on in every room. But it's  
28 so foreign that somebody would do that to a child that young, and to somebody else's child.

29 I mean, we've had some people in there that have given children beatings,  
30 unmerciful beatings, a number of them, many of them are not in the community anymore or  
31 now. And I know I've been told about things after, in recent times, but going back, there  
32 was a period of time when young men, children did get some terrible hidings.

33 It's totally unacceptable, that sort of thing was never condoned, was never condoned  
34 in the community, by Hopeful Christian or me or any of the leadership.

1 **MS BASIRE:** Okay. Well, I'll just ask you some more about that, because Ms Taylor's statement  
2 goes on to say:

3 "Several survivors spoke of Hopeful's hatred for the sound of babies crying. To  
4 prevent this he taught parents to cover their babies' and children's mouths and noses with  
5 their hand until the child was struggling to breathe when they cried. Several survivors said  
6 they'd seen children turn blue while their parents were doing this."

7 Do you recall that occurring in the community?

8 **MR TEMPLE:** No, I didn't. I definitely don't.

9 **MS BASIRE:** Again, survivors have spoke of the role of leaders in encouraging physical abuse.  
10 One survivor said:

11 "Put it this way, far from condemning this behaviour, the leaders of the community  
12 condoned and encouraged this degree of violence and the discipline of children because  
13 submissive wives and children were the sign of a well-managed family and a family of a  
14 well-managed family could rise in the social hierarchy of Gloriavale."

15 **MR TEMPLE:** No, I would deny the last part of that statement, I would deny that.

16 **MS BASIRE:** Another survivor said:

17 "Far from being something that happened in private, one survivor spoke of a father  
18 beating their children in an arranged public setting in the community. He said physical  
19 punishment of children was sufficiently ingrained in the community that teenage boys were  
20 sometimes beaten by their fathers on the stage in the hall while the entire community was  
21 eating their meals."

22 Do you recall that, Mr Temple?

23 **MR TEMPLE:** It wouldn't have been when the entire community was there because I never saw  
24 it.

25 **MS BASIRE:** You've told us that you did go to India for times.

26 **MR TEMPLE:** That's right.

27 **MS BASIRE:** Is it possible it happened while you were away from Gloriavale?

28 **MR TEMPLE:** That is possible, I can't deny that.

29 **MS BASIRE:** Survivors also talked about physical punishment being used in the schools and  
30 perhaps Mrs Stedfast you can reply to this question.

31 "Prior to the anti-smacking legislation in 2007, the survivors have said that each of  
32 the teachers had a number of bats in a filing cabinet that he or she could use to beat the  
33 children. They were blue or yellow, larger than table tennis bats, made up of some rough  
34 plastic about an inch thick. Depending on the offence we'd be hit on the bridge of the

1 knuckles, palm of the hand, bottom or thighs while bending down. This almost always left  
2 marks and bruises but we got used to this as a way of life."

3 Do you recall when you were at school prior to 2007 the, witnessing or  
4 experiencing punishment like that?

5 **MRS STEDFAST:** No, I never witnessed or experienced that.

6 **MS BASIRE:** Did you hear other people talking about that?

7 **MRS STEDFAST:** I've heard of it recently but I never heard of it when I was a teenager. When I  
8 was very young, this was back in 1989, basically at the start of my school years, I heard of  
9 it then, but -- then, yeah, I didn't hear of it for years until just recently.

10 **MS BASIRE:** You started teaching in the pre-school when you were about 19, is that right?

11 **MRS STEDFAST:** Yes, yes, I started full-time teaching when I was 19.

12 **MS BASIRE:** One of the survivors' statements says that after the anti-smacking legislation in  
13 2007, so this is when you would have been teaching, that:

14 "If a child acted out during the day, the pre-school teacher would make the child  
15 wait until the school day was finished. Possibly the child would be denied lunch, made to  
16 sit under a desk during that time and then after school the teacher would call the child's  
17 parents over. The parents would take the child into the bathroom in the school and beat  
18 him or her for the offence. The parents knew they had to make the punishment sound bad  
19 enough to satisfy the pre-school teacher because she listened outside the door and if she  
20 was not satisfied with the severity of the beatings she would beat the child herself until she  
21 was satisfied."

22 Do you deny that that sort of thing happened in the pre-school?

23 **MRS STEDFAST:** That never happened when I was there. I don't know about that instance or  
24 the instances. I did shift over to another centre early in those years, so I was not at the  
25 pre-school centre. I was down at the under 2s centre. But I didn't know of that happening,  
26 sorry.

27 **MS BASIRE:** One other example was a child or a survivor who remembers as a child being put in  
28 the middle of a stack of mattresses and the early childhood teacher sitting on top of the  
29 mattress until the child felt they could not breathe. Have you ever seen or heard of that  
30 practice?

31 **MRS STEDFAST:** I have never, ever seen it, I had never heard of it until this case when I read  
32 the documents.

33 **MS BASIRE:** Mr Temple, you in your response to the Commission have said that now victims  
34 are believed when they raise matters of abuse; is that correct.

1 **MR TEMPLE:** I'm sorry, the victims of -- what was that again, sorry?

2 **MS BASIRE:** There was a document, which I'm sure your lawyers helped you write, and in it said  
3 that the policy now is that victims are believed. The exact sentence didn't say victims of  
4 what, it just says, "We now believe all victims."

5 Is that your current policy?

6 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes. That is a current policy that we do listen to people and it's written up in our  
7 Child Protection and Well-Being Policy, it's written into that one too, I believe it's that  
8 policy it's written into, that we will always believe a child if a child comes to us with an  
9 accusation, we will believe the child but then there will be an investigation into it.

10 **MS BASIRE:** Right. In 2017 you had a policy, this was just a few months before Mr Christian  
11 had died, and that policy, I'm just flicking through my notes, in that policy it was still the  
12 position that you would investigate and only if the offender repeated the offending would  
13 you go to the Police. Can you recall that?

14 **MR TEMPLE:** Okay, thank you. "How the Trust deals with complaints of sexual assault within  
15 the community."

16 **MS BASIRE:** Can you see that on the screen "How the Trust deals with complaints"?

17 **MR TEMPLE:** I can see that. Chris has given me a paper here, thank you.

18 This one, yes, this was brought to my attention recently, between paragraph 4 and 5,  
19 bringing the children to repentance, the person to repentance, and then at paragraph 5, "if  
20 the offender nevertheless continues to physically assault one or more people within the  
21 community and will not cease to do so and does not (inaudible) and so forth, and breaks our  
22 community declaration to keep the clause of the Crimes Act and thus continues to break the  
23 law."

24 **CHAIR:** It sounds as though what Mr Temple has and what is on the screen, which the public, I'm  
25 sorry, can't see, is slightly different.

26 **MS BASIRE:** No, it should be the same.

27 **MR TEMPLE:** We've got the same thing, I think.

28 **CHAIR:** You do? Okay, you're just paraphrasing then.

29 **MS BASIRE:** Yeah.

30 **MR TEMPLE:** You carry on with your question.

31 **MS BASIRE:** So, this was a 2017 document?

32 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes.

1 **MS BASIRE:** So, my question is, you agree as recently as 2017 you still wanted to keep the issue  
2 in-house unless the person effectively re-offended; is that correct? That's what paragraph 5  
3 says.

4 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes, yes. What paragraph 5 says, that would be true, that would be true in 2017,  
5 yes.

6 **MS BASIRE:** So, what happened between 2017 and now that has changed your policy that you  
7 will, at the first instance, report to Police?

8 **MR TEMPLE:** A number of things, we come to a bit more knowledge, and now since the Police  
9 investigation it has opened our eyes completely and utterly as to what was happening in the  
10 community as far as abuse goes, and what was happening between these boys. We saw that  
11 our way and our investigation was not thorough enough and we were not, our way was not  
12 sufficient to bring the thing to a stop.

13 So this here could go in the rubbish tin because now, no, the authorities will be  
14 notified, we've got systems in place, procedures in place, any act that Oranga Tamariki will  
15 hear about it first through the leads, all right, the leads will get a hold of it. If the leads  
16 don't get a hold of it, anybody else can make a case known to the leads, the leads will pass  
17 it on to Oranga Tamariki, Oranga Tamariki will either deal with it themselves if they feel  
18 it's in their area; if not, they will pass it on to the Police.

19 So there's been a totally different attitude and way of thinking since that 2017.

20 **MS BASIRE:** Do you agree that the leadership, apart from Hopeful Christian dying in 2018,  
21 hasn't changed?

22 **MR TEMPLE:** The leadership has changed, its whole attitude has changed, its way of seeing  
23 things has changed.

24 **MS BASIRE:** But the people themselves, Mr Temple, have not changed, have they?

25 **MR TEMPLE:** The people --

26 **MS BASIRE:** The same people --

27 **MR TEMPLE:** Are you talking about the congregation or the leadership?

28 **MS BASIRE:** No. What I'm saying is the physical people who are leaders, there's been no change  
29 in the leadership physically. For example, you haven't stood down, other leaders haven't  
30 stood down, it's not like the leaders that people are supposed to report this abuse to are  
31 different people; they're the same people, aren't they?

32 **MR TEMPLE:** The leads we're talking about they're supposed to report to?

33 **MS BASIRE:** Yeah.

34 **MR TEMPLE:** Or you're talking about leadership? I am sorry --

1 **MS BASIRE:** The leadership hasn't changed, has it? So yes, two questions: The leadership hasn't  
2 changed, has it?

3 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes, the leadership has changed since 2017, yes, it has.

4 **MS BASIRE:** Have the people changed?

5 **MR TEMPLE:** There's four of them that are not there any longer.

6 **MS BASIRE:** So there's four that have stood down?

7 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes.

8 **MS BASIRE:** How many of the leadership are still there, that were there in 2017?

9 **MR TEMPLE:** It would be seven still there, am I right? Seven or nine. Five and four is nine.  
10 There's nine still there.

11 **MS BASIRE:** Nine still there?

12 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes.

13 **MS BASIRE:** I just want to talk to you about the internal change that you've said that you've  
14 made and the other leaders who are still in place have made. In May this year you  
15 issued -- before I go on to that, the document number that I was referring to, just for the  
16 record, is GLO00000003.

17 Sorry, Mr Temple, that's just for our purposes.

18 Now, I just want to talk about GLO0000149. I understand this was a public  
19 apology that you authored and was sent to the Greymouth Star. Do you recall that?

20 **MR TEMPLE:** Okay, okay, we did send an apology to the news media. We did send an apology  
21 there.

22 **MS BASIRE:** You said:

23 "We are deeply saddened by the harm members of our community have  
24 experienced. We apologise for our role in failing to prevent and protect victims of abuse.  
25 We are seeking to reach out to those who are no longer in our community and encourage  
26 them along with our current members to speak to us openly if they've experienced harm in  
27 any way."

28 I just want to question you about the reaching out to people no longer in the  
29 community. What have you actually done to reach out to those people?

30 **MR TEMPLE:** I'm just thinking, excuse me a minute, let me think. Some of them locally around  
31 us, we have contacted. What we intend to do, I'm sorry, what we intend to do, and it should  
32 have been done, I'm trying to think of why hasn't it been done yet, is to try and contact a lot  
33 of them before we -- we intend to contact them and make a statement to them. Now that

1           hasn't been done as of yet, I'm trying to think of why. You probably think I'm making  
2           promises but not keeping them. That's not the intention of it at all.

3 **MS BASIRE:** Well, it is interesting that you sent apologies to a newspaper in May and it's now  
4           October.

5 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes, right.

6 **MS BASIRE:** And in the first instance you haven't reached out to the community that you told the  
7           public that you were going to reach out to?

8 **MR TEMPLE:** You're correct, you're correct.

9 **MS BASIRE:** You say in the press release:

10                         "Gloriavale remains the only home that most of us who live here have ever known,  
11           so any commercial boycott of Gloriavale's operations will have a significant impact on  
12           hundreds of lives. Gloriavale also indirectly supports the livelihood of employees and  
13           families of a great many service businesses throughout the West Coast region."

14                         Do you accept that this press release seems more designed to avoid harm to your  
15           businesses than genuinely apologising, reach out to the victims of abuse at Gloriavale?

16 **MR TEMPLE:** No, it was an honest apology. I stand by that. It was an honest apology to the  
17           public.

18 **MS BASIRE:** Okay. So you're apologising to the public -- why apologise to the public?

19 **MR TEMPLE:** Because it involves the public. Gloriavale is known all over the whole of  
20           New Zealand, and for the wrongdoing that has happened to it, so we make an apology to  
21           the people, because it does concern people outside of the community and it does belong or  
22           needs to be made to the entire public, because of all the publicity that Gloriavale has  
23           received about these wrongdoings that's happened in the community. There are people  
24           outside of the community that are concerned about it, people that know us, people that have  
25           done business with us and the whole works.

26                         So the apology needed to be made to them, but there's another apology that should  
27           be sent out by now, I'll check up on that one, that should go to these individuals as far as  
28           the ones that we know and we can contact anyway, and that will be done.

29 **MS BASIRE:** Well, with respect, Mr Temple, that apology was issued only in Greymouth, not to  
30           the public of New Zealand. Greymouth is where you do business. Isn't that apology just --

31 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes, but not -- no, we do business -- sorry, carry on, I'm sorry.

32 **MS BASIRE:** Wasn't that apology just designed to get the businesses that you have contracted  
33           with back on side?

1 **MR TEMPLE:** Definitely not, definitely not, it was a sincere apology to the public and I haven't  
2 collected a newspaper from different areas to see if it went into there, but I assumed it went  
3 to other newspapers because it normally does. If we put something in one newspaper it will  
4 end up in a number of them. I can apologise for a lack there. I should have checked up on  
5 it to make sure it had gone out to other papers in other parts of the country, because it was  
6 meant for other parts of the country and it was not just for our personal benefit, it was  
7 because an apology has to be made.

8 **MS BASIRE:** You haven't given an apology to the victims, have you?

9 **MR TEMPLE:** Well, apparently not. I haven't checked up, but okay, but it will be. It will be.  
10 I'm saying it to you and you can say it to the whole public if you want to. It will be done.

11 **MS BASIRE:** Well, you conclude the press release by asking the public for forgiveness and to  
12 accept your open commitment and willingness to make significant changes. You say:

13 "We hope this letter provides assurance that we're doing everything in our power to  
14 ensure the transgressions of the past are never repeated."

15 So are you doing everything in your power for the victims of Gloriavale? For  
16 example, what compensation and redress package has been offered to the people who have  
17 left Gloriavale and have suffered abuse at Gloriavale?

18 **MR TEMPLE:** There has been help given to people that have left Gloriavale. That's all I can say  
19 at the present time. There has been help going out to people, leavers from Gloriavale.  
20 They have made requests to us and we have helped them in that request. There is a limited  
21 amount of money in Gloriavale, regardless of this \$40 million you hear of, that \$40 million  
22 is tied up in a trust and we cannot touch it. We only have the money that we make from our  
23 labours to work with, and now legal bills are gobbling that up like crazy, so we have very  
24 little money in our hands to do anything with.

25 **MS BASIRE:** So, Mr Temple, I'll just stop you there. I acknowledge that the survivors have told  
26 us that at times when they left they'd be given \$1,000 or maybe \$5,000, the highest I'd  
27 heard was \$10,000. As they understand and as I understand, that is a small amount of  
28 financial assistance because they are leaving behind all the fruits of their labour in  
29 Gloriavale. There has never, from what I understand, been a redress and compensation  
30 package for people who were sexually abused or physically abused or psychologically  
31 abused in Gloriavale.

32 Would you agree that you have not set up a redress and compensation package for  
33 victims of abuse?

1 **MR TEMPLE:** We have not up to the present time, we have talked about it, we have discussed it,  
2 but we just don't have the means of doing it at the present time. We're only working  
3 people. We work for a wage like everybody else working for, we work for a below  
4 minimum wage, so we are limited, very much so now because of legal expenses that we're  
5 suffering, which we have to comply with.

6 But our heart is to help people and we have helped people, even people that are  
7 taking us to court now. We have helped them and in the meantime while we're being taken  
8 to court, we're passing it on to them.

9 **MS BASIRE:** I just want to spend the last few minutes before the -- yeah, 3.15 is our break -- just  
10 talking about that. Because in your written responses and in your counsel's opening  
11 statement today, you've told us that you've put in policies and procedures that will mean  
12 that children and vulnerable people are safe in Gloriavale now, and you said that "We have  
13 changed".

14 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes.

15 **MS BASIRE:** But there is a lot of people who do not believe that you've changed and I just want  
16 to put one example to you which is a recent case this year.

17 Now, this is witness number 5. She says:

18 "Less well-documented but still very effective methods of control used by  
19 community leaders, social shunning, public and private attacks on character, food  
20 deprivation and harassing visits from leaders to members' rooms. A useful recent example  
21 of this was -- and I won't name the leader -- a leader's frequent and lengthy visits to me as  
22 he attempted to dissuade me from being a witness in the recent Employment Court  
23 litigation. This person visited me three times over little more than a week for up to seven  
24 hours in one time in his efforts to dissuade me from telling the truth. He chose times where  
25 he knew that -- a certain named person -- wasn't around, to ensure I had no support, but he  
26 did not count on my will to know -- to do what I know is right. During these one way  
27 discussions he shamed myself and my family, accused me of fighting against the church  
28 and told me my salvation was at risk due to my involvement in legal cases. The recency of  
29 this example will hopefully show the Royal Commission how little has changed in the  
30 community despite Gloriavale's public apology to the businesses that they connect to."

31 Are you aware of that leader's visits to that person?

32 **MR TEMPLE:** To GRO-A the name here; is that correct?

- 1 **MS BASIRE:** Yes, we're not naming her in the hearing, although she has allowed her witness  
2 statement to go to you unanonymised so that you knew who was being spoken about.
- 3 **MR TEMPLE:** I've been under the conclusion, if I'm correct, that that person is no longer a  
4 leader.
- 5 **MS BASIRE:** Is that a discipline that you have put on that person since learning about this?
- 6 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes, correct.
- 7 **MS BASIRE:** In terms of change, would you accept that your community has had 50 years of  
8 indoctrination of the beliefs of what you believe that we've talked about? You say that you  
9 haven't --
- 10 **MR TEMPLE:** No, not altogether what we believe -- you're talking about the book What We  
11 Believe?
- 12 **MS BASIRE:** Yeah.
- 13 **MR TEMPLE:** Well, it wasn't written until nigh on 20 years after we started, and now we have,  
14 how would we say, said that thing needs to be rewritten so we haven't followed that one  
15 100% for a number of years. We're not bound by that book (inaudible).
- 16 **MS BASIRE:** Well, I've seen copies of that book dated 2015 and 2018, both were updates. Why  
17 would you bother to update it in 2000 -- or reprint it in 2018 if you, as recently as 2018,  
18 weren't using it?
- 19 **MR TEMPLE:** Because trying to bring it up-to-date, only because of public opinion, because the  
20 original one, the '89 volume was never meant for the public, it was a private thing, and it  
21 would be amended from time to time. It has not been amended from time to time, as you're  
22 saying, it's well out of date, there's many things that we have not followed for a number of  
23 years.
- 24 **MS BASIRE:** You still follow --
- 25 **MR TEMPLE:** Sorry, carry on.
- 26 **MS BASIRE:** One of your doctrines is about the only people who can be saved, whose souls can  
27 be saved, are true Christians. So my soul can't be saved because I'm not a member of your  
28 community. Many survivors spoke to us about their fear of leaving the community, or their  
29 fear of speaking up and being made to leave the community because their souls would not  
30 be saved if they were put out of the community. That is still a practice that you believe in,  
31 isn't it?
- 32 **MR TEMPLE:** No. No, it is not. We have never taught Gloriavale was the only place for good  
33 Christians, that there was no Christians outside of Gloriavale, that has never been taught  
34 from the beginning. Now, the Bible teaches us that he that does the will of God will go to

1 heaven. That's up to every individual to work out what the will of God for them is in their  
2 situation.

3 Now, there are verses of scripture, I believe if you leave Gloriavale and go out from  
4 Gloriavale's teachings, why did you leave Gloriavale, not the fact that you left but why did  
5 you leave, was it God's will for you to leave, so forth and so on, but not that Gloriavale is  
6 the only place you can find salvation, that's never been taught here, and it never will be  
7 taught if I have any say in the matter. Because I know that to be a stupid way of thinking,  
8 regardless of what anybody, who says, the Bible doesn't say that.

9 **MS BASIRE:** You still believe in the doctrine of unity?

10 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes, unity is spoken of many times in the Bible.

11 **MS BASIRE:** Do you agree that people still feel internally guilty if they report because they're  
12 going against unity?

13 **MR TEMPLE:** I will not say anybody will not go to heaven, I will say what the Bible says, but  
14 me personally, 'you're not going to heaven', that's God's business, that's God's place. The  
15 Bible does make some definite statements of who will go to heaven and who will not go to  
16 heaven, it makes some definite statements there, and I will continue to teach the Bible.

17 But every individual has to make that -- make up their own mind whether they're  
18 going to be in Gloriavale or they're not going to be in Gloriavale. Once a person goes out  
19 of Gloriavale, they're out of my jurisdiction, that's something between them and God. I  
20 have no place of judgment on somebody that's outside of Gloriavale, they come under  
21 God's judgment out there, it's up to God, them and God.

22 **MS BASIRE:** I take it you are not going to do any deprogramming conditioning in your  
23 community.

24 **MR TEMPLE:** Deprogramming? I'm -- could you --

25 **MS BASIRE:** You've accepted that there are some doctrines that are out of date that have led to  
26 people behaving in certain ways. So what I'm saying to you is it's going to be a challenge  
27 for the 600 people in Gloriavale to start acting differently, isn't it?

28 **MR TEMPLE:** It will be a challenge, yes, we're faced with that challenge because of things like  
29 this abuse because it's been going on not only in Gloriavale, Gloriavale (inaudible) but also  
30 in world history, New Zealand history, it goes on all over the country, okay? Now, a way  
31 of life, but now abuse has never been condoned in the community. People have done it,  
32 people have committed it, but it has never been condoned, it has never been approved in  
33 that community; all right?

1           Now -- but if we have come and gotten a hold of it, this is where the problem is,  
2           now we say we won't do this anymore, now there's 600 people, we've got to get this 600  
3           people to say we won't do this anymore. That doesn't always happen just like that.

4 **MS BASIRE:** Yeah. It doesn't, does it.

5 **MR TEMPLE:** It's almost like changing a culture. But that doesn't mean we will not work on it, I  
6           will push and I will teach and I will expect it of these people in Gloriavale, there will be no  
7           more abuse in Gloriavale. (Inaudible).

8 **COMMISSIONER ALOFIVAE:** Ms Basire, can I just ask a question of clarity before we just go  
9           to the break.

10           So Mr Temple, talofa, my name is Sandra Alofivae and I'm one of the  
11           Commissioners here.

12 **MR TEMPLE:** How are you?

13 **COMMISSIONER ALOFIVAE:** I'm good thank you. Your document, What We Believe was  
14           originally written in 1989.

15 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes.

16 **COMMISSIONER ALOFIVAE:** And we've heard that it has been updated twice in 2015 and  
17           again in 2018, was that just simply a reprint as opposed to amendments.

18 **MR TEMPLE:** It had some minor changes in it, or some of it was taken out, it was, some minor  
19           ones but not complete enough, I'll admit that. We finally, in the 2022 one, it takes a lot of  
20           that stuff out.

21 **COMMISSIONER ALOFIVAE:** So, essentially, your theology as documented remains the  
22           same, so any outsider who would be looking at your document who didn't know anything  
23           but what they read about Gloriavale would understand that that was how they practised,  
24           that's how the Gloriavale community practised their faith?

25 **MR TEMPLE:** They could do that, but that What We Believe was never to replace the Bible, it  
26           was never intended to, but it's written in there and stated time and again, as amended from  
27           time to time. You can't amend the Bible from time to time. So that book does not override  
28           the Bible, the Bible is the highest authority that we have and we will always go to the Bible.  
29           What does the Bible say.

30 **COMMISSIONER ALOFIVAE:** Yes, but it certainly set the culture of your community, hasn't  
31           it, and that's been the driving social fabric of your community.

32 **MR TEMPLE:** It has -- sorry. It has had some effect on our culture but it is not the final  
33           authority.

34 **COMMISSIONER ALOFIVAE:** Thank you very much.

1 **MR TEMPLE:** Thank you.

2 **MS BASIRE:** Just one quick question before we have a break. That document, What You  
3 Believe, we know that the Education Review Office had access to that document. Do you  
4 know when Hopeful Christian was first investigated whether Police ever had access to that  
5 document?

6 **MR TEMPLE:** First investigated? That's when he went to prison, is that the time you're talking  
7 about?

8 **MS BASIRE:** Yeah.

9 **MR TEMPLE:** I don't know if they had access to it or not. I can't say, I'm sorry, I just don't  
10 know.

11 **MS BASIRE:** And in recent years when the Police have been coming in over recent years, have  
12 they read the document, do you know?

13 **MR TEMPLE:** I don't know. They do have a copy of it. I gave them one of the copies of 2015  
14 or '18, one of the two, I gave them that copy.

15 **MS BASIRE:** Do you recall either the Education Review Office, the Police or any other  
16 government authority questioning you on that doctrine that nobody was allowed to take a  
17 brother to the authority or the law?

18 **MR TEMPLE:** I can't remember anybody questioning on that one. We questioned it among  
19 ourselves. I can't remember anybody questioning it, nobody's questioned me on it outside  
20 of the community. Now, whether they questioned Hopeful or not, I don't know, I'm sorry.

21 **MS BASIRE:** Thank you. I think it's time for a break.

22 **CHAIR:** We'll take 15 minutes and resume again at, let's give us generously an extra two minutes.  
23 We'll come back at 20 to 4, thank you.

24 **Adjournment from 3.22 pm to 3.43 pm**

25 **CHAIR:** Welcome back, everybody, for our final session of the day.

26 Thank you, Ms Basire.

27 **QUESTIONING BY MS BASIRE CONTINUED:** Thank you, Madam Chair.

28 In this next section of questioning I understand that you, Mrs Stedfast, will answer  
29 regarding education, Treaty, disability issues.

30 **MRS STEDFAST:** As best I can, yes.

31 **MS BASIRE:** And I will be asking some questions about the past and I appreciate that you may  
32 not know and so I can also ask Mr Temple, feel free to join in.

33 So you've told us that you're aged 39 and that you were born in Springbank.

34 **MRS STEDFAST:** Yes, I was.

- 1 **MS BASIRE:** How old were you when you moved to Haupiri?
- 2 **MRS STEDFAST:** I was eight, pretty sure I was eight, yeah.
- 3 **MS BASIRE:** You've told us you have a diploma in teaching from The Open Polytech.
- 4 **MRS STEDFAST:** Yeah.
- 5 **MS BASIRE:** I'm not that familiar with teaching qualifications, so can you tell us what age  
6 groups does that qualify you to teach?
- 7 **MRS STEDFAST:** So the diploma that I did was from, I think it's from zero to eight, zero to  
8 eight-year-olds.
- 9 **MS BASIRE:** And you have said that you predominantly have worked in the early childhood  
10 education side of things at Gloriavale.
- 11 **MRS STEDFAST:** Yes, I have.
- 12 **MS BASIRE:** Just briefly, can you tell us how the early childhood centres are set up? Is it what  
13 we can imagine in the rest of New Zealand where there's one centre and it's quite separate  
14 to a school or a house, or is it attached to hostels?
- 15 **MRS STEDFAST:** So over the years we have had our centres in different buildings. In the main,  
16 what we call the main building, the whole -- one of the whole wings on the side is a  
17 pre-school centre, multiple rooms and a playground out the front. In the past we have had,  
18 to start, we had some centres, two centres located in the bottom floor, two of our hostel  
19 buildings. So they were for the exclusive use of the centre, so it was like what we call a  
20 shared premise.
- 21 So out of centre hours it went back to being, you know, a hostel, a personal hostel  
22 but during centre hours it was for the exclusive use of the centres during those hours. But  
23 we don't have those centres anymore. One has shut down and the other licence is -- it's on,  
24 kind of on hold while we're in the process of shutting that down, but we're mostly using the  
25 centre that is in the wing of the main building and then across from the school there's a  
26 section of the school building that's kind of just a wing, an L-shape out from the school and  
27 that is under the same licence as the other, yes.
- 28 **MS BASIRE:** And then the primary and secondary school are in that main building that you're  
29 talking -- that you were just talking about where there's currently a wing that's being used  
30 for early childhood?
- 31 **MRS STEDFAST:** No, we have a school building.
- 32 **MS BASIRE:** Yes, that's what I meant.
- 33 **MRS STEDFAST:** Oh, that's not the main building, it's a different building to the school  
34 building.

- 1 **MS BASIRE:** Yes, sorry, it was probably my language.
- 2 **MRS STEDFAST:** Sorry.
- 3 **MS BASIRE:** So the school building is separate from the communal kitchen/dining/lounge  
4 facilities?
- 5 **MRS STEDFAST:** Yes. Yes, it is, yeah.
- 6 **MS BASIRE:** And that is a primary school and a secondary school?
- 7 **MRS STEDFAST:** Yeah, yes, it is.
- 8 **MS BASIRE:** And how many pupils in the primary and secondary school at the moment?
- 9 **MRS STEDFAST:** At the moment there's about roughly 180, as far as I can remember, a few  
10 have been taken off recently so I'm not quite up to date on those numbers. About 180 in the  
11 school.
- 12 **MS BASIRE:** So do I understand that you've not taught at the school before, you've  
13 predominantly been in early childhood teaching?
- 14 **MRS STEDFAST:** I have predominantly been in early childhood but I have taught at school  
15 before.
- 16 **MS BASIRE:** And you were appointed Acting Principal just back in August?
- 17 **MRS STEDFAST:** Yes.
- 18 **MS BASIRE:** Why is it that you're Acting Principal at the moment?
- 19 **MRS STEDFAST:** Because the former principal, our board stood him down due to receiving  
20 some allegations from the Gloriavale Leavers' Trust and --
- 21 **MS BASIRE:** I understand there's a number of teachers stood down at the moment as well?
- 22 **MRS STEDFAST:** Yes, there are. Yeah.
- 23 **MS BASIRE:** So how many teachers have you got working presently at the school?
- 24 **MRS STEDFAST:** I've got eight teachers and all of those teachers have a teacher aide with them.
- 25 **MS BASIRE:** So the eight teachers, are they fully qualified teachers?
- 26 **MRS STEDFAST:** On the -- if you look on the Teaching Council register, they are fully  
27 qualified. There are some that have a -- they hold a LAT, that's a Limited Authority to  
28 Teach.
- 29 **MS BASIRE:** Thank you.
- 30 **MRS STEDFAST:** Yeah.
- 31 **MS BASIRE:** We might, if I get time, ask some questions about the Limited Authority to Teach.  
32 But just for now I just want to ask some questions about Māori culture. You touched on  
33 that in your evidence and in your statement.

1           Now, I just want to put up a document, and it's document GLO ended 57 and this is  
2           Gloriavale Christian School Quality Management System -- that's what it's headed. So I'm  
3           not sure, have you seen this document before?

4 **MRS STEDFAST:** No, I haven't. No, I haven't read that document before.

5 **MS BASIRE:** Perhaps, Sophie, can you just put the front page up so she can see what the front  
6           page looks like.

7           So it says "Gloriavale Christian School Quality Management System 2021". Now,  
8           because you weren't working in the school in 2021, I do accept that this is not something  
9           that you were involved in developing. But I just want to go to page 4 and the quote that we  
10          just had up on the screen.

11          Now, in this document, which was just last year, the school said:

12          "We have our own unique Christian culture based on the teachings of the New  
13          Testament. Although we all have European or Māori ancestry or both, we do not think of  
14          ourselves as Europeans or Māori, rather we reject both these cultures as un-Christian since  
15          both are based on paganism and self-indulgence with a few perverted versions of biblical  
16          ideas mixed in. We accept no denominational labels but we are simply Christians. We do  
17          not keep non-biblical traditions amongst ourselves, whether of Māori or European origin.  
18          For example, we do not keep Christmas or Easter, or use pagan names for the days of the  
19          weeks or the months of the year. Nor do we seek to keep the Māori culture alive amongst  
20          ourselves. This is not from any racist motivation whatsoever, but as the scripture says,  
21          "There is neither Jew nor Greek, there is neither bond nor free, there is neither male nor  
22          female for ye are all one in Christ Jesus."

23          I read that out because that seems at odds with what you're telling us is happening in  
24          early childhood education where you have said for a number of years that you've developed  
25          a bi-cultural model.

26          So is it true that the school that you've just been asked to be Acting Principal for  
27          does not seek to keep the Māori culture alive?

28 **MRS STEDFAST:** I'm kind of just getting into the school. Being that we are a private school and  
29          we have a very special character, so we have a special character statement, which I haven't  
30          actually got my hands on, but in that it is about that we do teach the biblical culture, the  
31          culture of the Bible, which -- so it's kind of hard for me to answer, being that I've just come  
32          in and I'm still trying to get my head around all these documents and even the way it's run.

1           So we have been trying to get the school to work alongside the early childhood for  
2 quite a few years now actually so that there's actually a continuity of learning going from  
3 early childhood through, from -- to school and so we've been working on that.

4           So there is that scripture in the Bible that once Christians become -- once you  
5 become a Christian, you actually do let go of all the things that, say, like your culture, your,  
6 yeah, all those things, you kind of let them go and you take on Christ, you let go of your  
7 nature, your natural nature, you take on Christ, so that's where that concept is coming from,  
8 where -- that in the -- yeah, you take on Christ so you let go of all the other.

9           So in the school we can teach -- we teach te reo, because that's just another  
10 language, there's languages all over the world, and it's part of our, you know, the country  
11 we come from. We do, also we will teach some tikanga practices that are not contrary to  
12 the Bible but we will not and we probably will not ever teach the whole Māori culture to  
13 our children.

14           And the thing about that too is that the Māori culture belongs to the Māori people  
15 and I feel they kind of have a possession of it that I don't necessarily want to take away  
16 from them. I'll teach my children about it, not necessarily expect them to become part of  
17 that culture.

18           So yeah, I'm still getting my head around this statement too. So, sorry.

19 **MS BASIRE:** That's all right, I do understand the difficult position you're in. But you would  
20 expect, given that that's an official quality management document in 2021, that up until  
21 now there really has been no acknowledgment of Māori culture in the secondary -- the  
22 primary and secondary school?

23 **MRS STEDFAST:** Yeah, which is -- it's kind of strange because even my own personal children  
24 have come home singing waiata. They -- a number of them know the national anthem in  
25 te reo and so I'm wondering how deep, you know, I'm like, well, okay, there has been  
26 Māori things and tikanga practices and te reo taught in school.

27           Now, I don't know if people think that's separate from the culture itself. So I don't  
28 believe that there has been a very strong focus on the Māori culture in school at all, and I'll  
29 have to admit that there are parents who are anti it, because I personally myself have heard  
30 comments, that there are individual parents who, yeah, who are struggling with the idea of  
31 taking anything Māori on, including language, you know. So, yeah, there's individuals that  
32 are quite strong in it. So, yeah.

33 **MS BASIRE:** Thank you for that.

1           The 1997 ERO report said that 13% of the school's roll were Māori and we've been  
2 told that originally there were five families who identified as Māori within Gloriavale.  
3 Because you have large families in Gloriavale, that counted for quite a lot of people. But  
4 four of the families have left and there is only one family still left in Gloriavale. Would  
5 you agree with that?

6 **MRS STEDFAST:** I don't know sorry, I don't actually know who you're talking about, but --

7 **MS BASIRE:** That's fine. What I'm going to do is I'm just going to read a quote which might put  
8 some light into why your children have come home with some Māori culture, some waiata  
9 or some language and yet the school doesn't promote it.

10           So this is witness statement number 5. This witness says:

11           "My experience in the early childhood centres and the school at Gloriavale is that  
12 teachers only pay attention to the Māori aspect of our bi-cultural nation when there's an  
13 ERO visit occurring. Just before a visit, te reo Māori resources would appear in the  
14 classrooms, the child would rote learn a waiata but as soon as the visit was over we'd go  
15 back to normal and there would be no focus on learning or understanding different  
16 cultures."

17           Has that been your experience?

18 **MRS STEDFAST:** I would say that in the past when I was young before I actually came into the  
19 position of secondary manager, because we were just learning it, so it was, yeah, it was  
20 quite a difficult thing to get our heads around even, even as a young, even right from the  
21 start, as a student teacher, but in recent years that has actually changed quite, quite  
22 dramatically, I'll have to say "dramatically", because now it is actually, and there will  
23 always be some teachers that are weaker than other teachers. So you'll always have your,  
24 say, your te reo champions who - they will be kind of like the team leader in the group or in  
25 the centre, even school teachers have strengths, other school teachers- are, like, "I can't  
26 learn another language very well", you know.

27           So there'll always be your champions that will push it and we are actually getting  
28 more champions in that area as we go on and as we get more professional development  
29 around that.

30           So in the past, yes, I did see that happen.

31 **MS BASIRE:** Thank you.

32 **MRS STEDFAST:** Now it's so much better.

33 **MS BASIRE:** This witness goes on to say:

1 "GRO-B" was a teacher in the school and she asked the leaders" - and- I assume by  
 2 that she meant the leaders of the school – “if her Grade 2 children could sing the  
 3 New Zealand national anthem both in te reo and English for the community but this request  
 4 was denied. The message was sent to children that Māori culture and tikanga are  
 5 unimportant at best and negative at worst. Ironically there are items in the concerts which  
 6 the community put on for visitors which celebrate cultures from all around the world but  
 7 still no inclusion of Māori culture."

8 So that is, I understand, a comment from a few years ago. So you're saying that that  
 9 practice has changed?

10 **MRS STEDFAST:** Well, what my children told me, I had one -- one of my children was in that  
 11 grade, she said it's because, it had something to do with that there was "killing" or "war", I  
 12 can't remember which word she used, in the anthem itself, just the anthem itself. So it was  
 13 a little bit questionable but since then, it's actually changed, so multiple grades have  
 14 actually learnt the anthem in English and te reo, so -- and about the concerts, well, yeah,  
 15 I mean, I don't think it was very much thought of, I suppose. And the concerts were just,  
 16 yeah, whatever, everything so --

17 **MR TEMPLE:** I could --

18 **MS BASIRE:** Another witness -- sorry, yes, Mr Temple?

19 **MR TEMPLE:** Just to add a little bit on to that one. As far as the Bible goes, as far as our  
 20 teachings go, we cannot say one language is acceptable to God, another language is not  
 21 acceptable to God. If we say only people that talk English can be Christians, Japanese  
 22 couldn't be Christians, Samoans couldn't be Christians, Māori couldn't be Christians, but  
 23 now that -- God doesn't see it that way.

24 Now, there can be individuals, individuals in any culture and any nationality that  
 25 will have problem with another -- a different culture, a different nationality, but it doesn't  
 26 mean one is right and the other one is wrong. It's a matter of the humanity of people, if  
 27 I might put it that way. It's just natural that anywhere it seems like you have got two  
 28 nationalities together you'll get some degree of prejudice, which you've got throughout the  
 29 world.

30 But us and our belief in the teachings in the church is no, we're one and the same.  
 31 Before God, we look at ourselves as before God, how does God see us? No, he sees us all  
 32 as equals, all right? Before we become Christian, we're all sinners; once we become

1 Christians, we are all Christians regardless of what nationality or what language you speak,  
2 it doesn't make any difference, okay?

3 But the humanity of people have a bit of a problem sometimes seeing it that way.  
4 But in the church, no, we're all equal and there is nothing sinful about talking Māori. I hear  
5 the kids, the pre-schoolers singing something in Māori, it causes me no problem  
6 whatsoever, not whatsoever.

7 And -- but there is cultures, like, I was 30 years old before I came a Christian. Well,  
8 I had to change a lot of things in my life which had become part of my culture, I had to give  
9 those up now if I was going to take on the Christian culture. This is what we aim for, the  
10 Christian culture overrides all other cultures and the Christian culture, we should all be  
11 aiming towards that culture. But that doesn't mean you've got to leave everything else  
12 outside, you can't sing something in Māori now because we're Christians, you would have  
13 to say we can't talk English now because we're Christians. That's not the way it is and that's  
14 not what is taught in the church.

15 Admittedly, there still can be prejudice among the people here. I was talking to a  
16 Māori lady, I went purposely to her and questioned her, she's not a full Māori, she's only  
17 half Māori, she's married to a New Zealander, I was asking her some questions about in her  
18 life, in her experience, had she received any issues because of prejudice or something. She  
19 said, yes, as a young person she did. When she was 10 years old there was instances there,  
20 she said, but it's mainly from the school children and children of her own age and her own  
21 class that she would get a bit of ridicule from them sometimes. She did say that in the  
22 school then if the teachers ever got a hold of anything like that they would condemn it  
23 straight away.

24 So it hasn't been taught in our teachings, in the school, or in our church meetings  
25 that the Māori are anything less than Europeans or New Zealanders, or anything, but we're  
26 all one people, and we're all aiming for the one culture.

27 **MS BASIRE:** I'll just read out one of the witness statements. This is survivor witness statement

28 1. She says:

29 "In Year 5 and 6 I had a teacher who picked on me and another Māori girl in the  
30 class. He would talk down to us about our mums. He used to call Māori 'vile heathens' and  
31 the like. He singled me out to humiliate me. One time I used te reo and he made me stand  
32 in the corner for two to three hours. I was 11 years old when this happened. There was a  
33 lot of racism at Gloriavale. We'd be punished if we spoke in te reo. There was definitely a  
34 stigma to be Māori or any other culture in there."

1 **MR TEMPLE:** I cannot argue with that, I can't argue with that. I'm not everywhere all the time,  
2 every minute of the day. But they're just doing what this lady taught and what is generally  
3 taught in the community, the leadership, it is not taught, you know, that Māori is any less  
4 than New Zealand and this lady did tell me that if it was in her experience, if anything like  
5 that came up in the school, she was a senior sort of teacher, been there for years, if anything  
6 like that came up in the school, the lady said, yes, it would be dealt with by the teachers and  
7 condemned. That's all that I know of it. I haven't been a school teacher, I haven't taught in  
8 the school so anything could have happened and me not know of it.

9 **MS BASIRE:** We have another statement from another survivor, this is witness number 3, she  
10 says:

11 "I remember being young and my mother crying about why I was not liked by the  
12 leaders. My grandmother said it was because I was Māori and that Hopeful was racist. A  
13 lot of things were said to me about being Māori over the years. My grandmother taught me  
14 some te reo. Once when I was speaking te reo I was told I was not allowed to speak Satan's  
15 language. I do not remember who said that. We were taught that Māori were  
16 thieves -- were lazy and thieves. I remember feeling a lot of shame about being Māori  
17 when I was younger."

18 So that witness is talking about leaders, including Hopeful Christian. Do you recall  
19 what his attitude to Māori were?

20 **MR TEMPLE:** I haven't got any knowledge of being particularly prejudiced towards Māori, or  
21 any other race. The Māori girls here, the ones here now, they've all married New Zealand  
22 men. Hopeful's granddaughter is married to an Indian and living in India. Whether he  
23 made a difference between the two but -- I don't know. I can't say that -- I can't say none of  
24 these issues happened because I wasn't everywhere all the time.

25 **MS BASIRE:** The doctrine of not keeping either European or Māori culture alive over the New  
26 Testament, that's still your doctrine; is that right?

27 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes, it is, the Christian culture comes above all other cultures, the Christian  
28 culture, but it's got nothing to do with the language or whether you eat this food or you eat  
29 that food, I'm looking at it from a Christian point of view and the way we see God would  
30 see it. One culture is not above another culture as far as God sees, as far as God goes, and  
31 his judgment will come on one the same as it will come on the other.

32 **MRS STEDFAST:** I think, if I may, sorry, the cultural part would be, say, like the legends, the  
33 Māori gods, the teachings about taniwha, etc, we would definitely not teach our children  
34 that this is for them. We would teach them that the Bible is for them. Just like if anyone

1 from China came and brought their gods with them, we'd say you need to let go of  
2 that -- you can still speak Chinese, even if you wore the same clothes as Chinese, but you  
3 need to leave the gods back at that culture and you need to take on the God of the New  
4 Testament.

5 Now, I understand that our children, a lot of our children are not what I would call  
6 Christians because they have not yet given their lives to God or to Christ. So in that aspect  
7 what they take and what they feel would be quite different to what I feel as -- because I've  
8 been converted to Christ.

9 So it's quite a foreign concept for a lot of people just in general society. But that  
10 cultural part of the teachings of the ancestors, the Māori gods, that we will not, because it  
11 conflicts with our belief in the Bible.

12 And I would like to make a statement about what the witness said when the witness  
13 said that it was called the devil's language when she spoke te reo. Whoever said that, and  
14 she's running it on from Hopeful Christian. That does not mean that Hopeful Christian said  
15 it.

16 Now, she didn't clarify, or whoever it was, I don't know if it was a she, did not  
17 clarify whether or not that was Hopeful who said it.

18 Now, like I said, I have heard comments like that. They are from individuals who  
19 have their own personal standings and beliefs, and they have made that choice to believe  
20 that.

21 Now, my grandfather Hopeful, he took his family and they lived amongst the Māori  
22 people in maraes, on a marae here, a couple of different marae, because he was  
23 evangelising and he was evangelising, taking the Bible and taking Christ's teaching to them.  
24 So that's what -- that's where it would collide, because Christ's teachings do collide with  
25 Māori concepts of spirituality and stuff. There are so many things that align that we -- it  
26 doesn't collide, and we would and will continue to teach those.

27 But where it collides is where we actually can't -- if we're saying we are Christians  
28 and we believe in the Bible, we can't teach those things to our children, and anyone who is  
29 in Gloriavale, we are supposing, we are supposing that they are there because they want the  
30 teachings of the Bible. So that's what we are going to deliver to their children.

31 Now, if they want the other, if they want us to teach their children the Māori  
32 ancestry, their culture, then they probably need to find another school that actually will do  
33 that, say, because we are a special character school and this is the character of our school,

1           then along with Government, kind of, mandates, we will teach where it goes and as far as it  
2           goes before it collides with our faith. So --

3 **MS BASIRE:** Okay. I'll just stop you there and ask you some questions.

4           First of all, a Māori family in Gloriavale would find it very difficult to say that they  
5           weren't going to have their children at the school because that would go against the concept  
6           of unity; isn't that right?

7 **MRS STEDFAST:** If they chose to home school?

8 **MS BASIRE:** Or take their children to another school.

9 **MRS STEDFAST:** Or take their children to another school. So we're presuming because they  
10          sent their children to our school that that's what they want their children --

11 **MS BASIRE:** I'm just looking at what we know about the Gloriavale structure, which everybody  
12          lives communally, works communally, goes to school communally -- is that your baby?

13 **MRS STEDFAST:** Yeah, (inaudible).

14 **MS BASIRE:** Well, a child doesn't have a lot of choice in this situation, they're kind of captive in  
15          this rural community 70 kilometres away from everyone else, but I'm just saying the  
16          parents even would struggle to step out of unity and take their children to another school to  
17          learn, for example, to a kaupapa Māori school, that would be out of unity with the rest of  
18          the community, wouldn't it?

19 **MRS STEDFAST:** Yes, because the concept of unity is that we are all wanting to head in the  
20          same direction. So if they want to move off that path, they can move off that path if they  
21          want to. And it does mean they will be out of unity. But if they don't want that direction  
22          anymore, they're free to go another one.

23 **MS BASIRE:** So Christianity itself is a European concept and culture that was transported to  
24          New Zealand by the missionaries; you would agree that?

25 **MRS STEDFAST:** Yes, it was brought to New Zealand by the missionaries, yeah.

26 **MS BASIRE:** Isn't by putting the New Testament first and not seeking to keep the Māori culture  
27          alive effectively promoting a version of European culture over Māori culture?

28 **MRS STEDFAST:** The New Testament was -- it was actually -- it was, it originated from Israel,  
29          so it was -- it was -- the Old Testament was for the Jews, the New Testament came in and  
30          Gentiles were invited into that salvation. Before that, salvation was just for the Jews. So  
31          actually it originated from Israel. So yeah, I mean, it's been adopted and it's gone  
32          everywhere, worldwide, so --

33 **MS BASIRE:** But it's a cultural practice that was foreign to New Zealand before the missionaries  
34          brought it here?

1 **MRS STEDFAST:** That's right, yeah.

2 **MS BASIRE:** I'm just briefly going to ask some questions about Te Tiriti o Waitangi, or the  
3 Treaty of Waitangi. Now, I understand because you're a special character school you're not  
4 bound by the Treaty, but there are some aspects that you're encouraged by the education  
5 authorities to include in your curriculum; would that be your understanding?

6 **MRS STEDFAST:** Yes, yes, that would be. I don't have great understanding of the school at the  
7 moment, I have a bigger understanding of early childhood and they kind of come under a  
8 different thing to this private school.

9 **MS BASIRE:** We did have a document which was a document in 2007 which made -- which was  
10 given to us from Gloriavale. In that document, ended 12, it said -- I'll just read it out  
11 for -- because we're running out of time:

12 "Gloriavale Christian Community School, being a private school, is not an agent of  
13 the Crown and therefore has no direct responsibilities under the Treaty of Waitangi other  
14 than to recognise the signatory of the Crown of England."

15 It was clear in that document that Gloriavale didn't appear to accept, or even be  
16 aware of what we call the two versions of the Treaty, that is the English version and then  
17 the Māori version, which translated into English says something different. Are you aware  
18 of those differences?

19 **MRS STEDFAST:** Yeah, slightly, I'm not that clear on them, but I am aware.

20 **MS BASIRE:** Do you think anyone in Gloriavale would be aware that the Waitangi Tribunal has  
21 found that the Treaty set out agreement between Māori and the Crown where Māori  
22 exercised tino rangatiratanga over Māori and the Crown actually exercised kāwanatanga  
23 over the British settlers, not that Māori ceded sovereignty to the Crown of England.

24 **MRS STEDFAST:** Yeah, yeah.

25 **MS BASIRE:** That's probably beyond --

26 **MRS STEDFAST:** Yes, there are people who are aware of that, quite a lot of people actually.

27 **MS BASIRE:** Right. I take it, therefore, that Gloriavale doesn't accept the principles of  
28 partnership inherent in Te Tiriti and doesn't see that Māori children have a right to their  
29 culture, that supersedes your religious beliefs.

30 **MRS STEDFAST:** I wouldn't say Gloriavale even actually really Gloriavale, there's a lot of  
31 people in Gloriavale with actually a range of beliefs in that. So that school document was  
32 in 2007. I don't even know about that school document. I have not read it, and my guess is  
33 that it was written by the principal at the time and as a parent I never saw that document.  
34 As an early childhood teacher I never saw that document.

1 I did not know about it, I did not know that statement was there. So yeah, like  
2 I said, I'm just -- and so -- and I can't speak for everyone at Gloriavale. I can speak for me  
3 and what I know.

4 **MS BASIRE:** We're running out of time, but I just wanted to ask you some questions about  
5 people with disabilities. You said in your statement that children with disabilities are well  
6 supported now in Gloriavale; is that correct?

7 **MRS STEDFAST:** Yes, yeah. And getting better.

8 **MS BASIRE:** You'd agree that they weren't always supported?

9 **MRS STEDFAST:** I agree, they weren't always supported.

10 **MS BASIRE:** What about adults who are disabled in the Gloriavale community? You must have  
11 adults, disabled adults in the community?

12 **MRS STEDFAST:** Yeah, I'd say so, yeah. Yeah, there are.

13 **MS BASIRE:** This might be more of a question for Mr Temple. The document that was a  
14 response to a Notice to Produce that we asked you a number of questions, that's document  
15 ended 144, you were asked about policies and how well you look after people who are deaf  
16 or disabled, and the answer was:

17 "We treat all members of the community equally regardless of race, gender, ability,  
18 mental health or sexual orientation. We believe the systems we have in place will  
19 adequately protect all people from abuse within the community itself. We are happy for  
20 outside agencies such as the Police, OT or Safeguarding Children to advise us of any  
21 changes that we need to make to our policies and procedures."

22 And then in that same document you were asked to comment on human rights and  
23 how Gloriavale has incorporated international human rights norms and principles into its  
24 systems, procedures and policies in respect to provision of care of children and young  
25 people and vulnerable adults.

26 Now, your response was:

27 "We are a small farming community on the West Coast so we generally do not  
28 spend any time reading international human rights treaties and principles. Having said that,  
29 we are conscious of the need to follow all domestic laws. Safeguarding Children helped  
30 formulate our child protection policy with input from the Police and Oranga Tamariki and  
31 we have considered the Human Rights Act and the Bill of Rights Act."

32 So I just wanted to ask some questions about disability. Has any of the leadership,  
33 Mr Temple, been made aware of the UN Convention on the Rights of the Disabled Person?

1 **MR TEMPLE:** The which? The what? I'm sorry, I didn't quite get the last part of that question,  
2 sorry.

3 **MS BASIRE:** That's all right. The United Nations Convention on the Rights of Disabled People.

4 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes.

5 **MS BASIRE:** Do any of the Shepherds or Servants know about that document?

6 **MR TEMPLE:** I don't particularly know -- I know of the document but I haven't made a study of  
7 it. There could be many things in there that I'm not really aware of. But we are definitely,  
8 to the best of my knowledge, making provision -- we do have some disabled persons here,  
9 some -- a couple of not very well disabled, we have others, you know, with no legs and this  
10 type of thing, but they're all, as far as all appearances they've been well catered for.

11 We have one who suffers quite strongly with dementia and he's in quite bad shape,  
12 but he's still with his wife and he's got sons and daughters here and they help, they help his  
13 wife very much with the care of him and he goes away to a home in Greymouth now and  
14 again and spends some time there. So I think as much as can be done, is being done for that  
15 person.

16 And the young girl **GRO-B**, she's completely unable to look after herself, but her  
17 mother and other girls in the community, there's somebody with her all the time and she's  
18 getting a fair bit of help here. And then she has -- her and her husband have taken that girl  
19 to Australia a number of times to undergo treatment over there and they're coming up to  
20 take her over again. There were some people in New Zealand here that were treating her  
21 here in New Zealand, they went to (inaudible) over a period of time now. But all that can  
22 be done -- there is a person that comes out there and looks at that, at her every week. Every  
23 week a specialist comes out and spends sometime there with her. So I feel that she's getting  
24 well looked after.

25 **MS BASIRE:** It hasn't always been the case that disabled people have been well looked after in  
26 Gloriavale, is it, though? I just want to talk to you about Prayer Ready, you will remember  
27 Prayer?

28 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes, that's right. What is the accusation there, that she was not being looked  
29 after?

30 **MS BASIRE:** I'll just read out a witness statement, witness statement 5:

31 "Our daughter Prayer was born in 2001 and Hopeful was the first person to tell me  
32 she had Down's Syndrome. We were given the clear impression that to produce a child  
33 with special needs was a reflection of deficiency in our own spirituality."

1 Do you remember that attitude being around?

2 **MR TEMPLE:** No, I haven't known of it, I haven't known of it. And to my knowledge, the child  
3 was with her family. No, I'm sorry, I can't remember of any of that happening. Rachel?

4 **MRS STEDFAST:** I don't know of that attitude.

5 **MR TEMPLE:** No, I don't know of it.

6 **MS BASIRE:** She goes on to say:

7 "Hopeful was opposed to any measures to provide special assistance for Prayer. He  
8 told us we were making a public display of ourselves by treating Prayer differently and she  
9 should be treated the same way as other children."

10 Was there a philosophy that all children should be treated the same regardless of  
11 their disability?

12 **MR TEMPLE:** No, that was never taught, I've never heard that being taught. I would have heard  
13 of no matter what the child, who the child is or what problems it has, it still must be treated  
14 equal. Now, being equal is being provided for and cared for. And equal doesn't mean that  
15 you eat the same food, you go to the same doctor at the same time and things like this,  
16 being equal is every need is met.

17 **MS BASIRE:** I'll just read out some more of her statement.

18 **MR TEMPLE:** Carry on.

19 **MS BASIRE:** "A person" -- who we're not going to name -- "who travelled outside the  
20 community secretly arranged for us to receive help from a community health worker. We  
21 had to do this secretly because we were aware of parents of special needs children in the  
22 community who asked for this type of help and it been denied by the leaders."

23 She goes on to say:

24 "Before this person could begin to visit us in the community -- [unnamed  
25 person] -- had to groom Hopeful by massaging his ego so he would accept this. The person  
26 who came into the community was very helpful in that she always wore long dresses, she  
27 was very respectful when she visited so she was able to visit us for four years and her  
28 assistance was invaluable."

29 However, she goes on to say:

30 "Because I'd received additional learning -- all of the additional learning from the  
31 person who was coming in and Prayer was progressing well, I wanted to be her teacher aide  
32 in the school. I was suitably qualified and the community could get funding for my  
33 position from the Ministry of Education but Hopeful and Faithful Pilgrim, who was the  
34 principal of the school at the time, denied this request. I was told I was not capable of

1 caring for her because I was not strong enough, I wasn't a strong enough disciplinarian.  
2 I even went to a teachers' meeting and pleaded with them but – [unnamed person] -- and  
3 I were mocked and our request was again denied."

4 She goes on to say:

5 "As soon as she started at school Prayer's learning went backwards, I tried to stress  
6 the need for her to have a consistent learning environment but the school kept changing her  
7 teachers so Prayer lost a lot of the gains she'd made as she took time to become accustomed  
8 to her new classroom routine which took her away from learning."

9 **MR TEMPLE:** I can't comment on that one, I don't know of it, that's all I can say, I don't know of  
10 that issue.

11 **MS BASIRE:** Well, another witness, and this came from Louise Taylor's evidence, she was in  
12 school with Prayer and her memory was:

13 "In early years Prayer was largely ignored, put down the back of the classroom and  
14 given blocks or a pencil and paper and left to fend for herself. In later years, Prayer was  
15 expected to perform at the same level as the rest of us and she faced a lot of pressure to stop  
16 pretending that she had Down's Syndrome and start applying herself to her work. The  
17 thinking seemed to be if they pushed and beat Prayer hard enough they would beat the  
18 Down's Syndrome out of her."

19 **MR TEMPLE:** That sounds a bit foreign. But what was going on in the school I know very little  
20 about, I had a job, managing a job myself, that took up my time. But all I can say is that  
21 sounds a little bit foreign to me, that a child would get treated any differently to any other  
22 child, you know, that line, you know what I mean, it's health, say, it's disability say.

23 That's all I can say. Rachel, do you have any?

24 **MRS STEDFAST:** Well, I was in the centre when Prayer was a one- to two-year-old, I was there  
25 with her mum and we did, as staff we did training -- sorry. And I witnessed the beautiful  
26 relationship that she had with her mum. I witnessed the time and the love that her mum put  
27 into her and I admired her so greatly for that. And while she was at the early childhood  
28 centres I believe that the staff and the teachers and the centre manager I worked under at  
29 the time put so much time and care and love to support Prayer's mum because we  
30 understood that she probably would have struggles going through life. And I do know that  
31 when she went to school, I don't know if it was straight away, but I started noticing a  
32 difference in her and of course I didn't inquire into it, maybe I should have, I was just a  
33 young teacher.

1           But I did see sorrow and heartache in her mother when Prayer was mistreated by  
2 people and my heart went out to her. Because even myself, I had built a friendship with  
3 Prayer and because I -- my personality type is that I am an advocate, and so my passion is  
4 to protect the vulnerable. And so to see things happening I didn't have answers because  
5 I hadn't done the training that was needed. So I couldn't step in and do things. But now  
6 I've had a lot of training and I would step in, I would do something about that. And  
7 individual people, I know that individual people would actually mistreat her because she  
8 was different.

9 **MS BASIRE:** And that included the teachers, didn't it?

10 **MRS STEDFAST:** I can't say, I wasn't in the classrooms, I was just outside the classrooms.

11 **MS BASIRE:** But we've got a witness statement who saw that happen and you're telling us you  
12 saw the difference in Prayer, that child was abused and ill-treated at that school and the  
13 really sad thing, and I understand why you're emotional, is then she died, and we've only  
14 got three minutes left, so I just want to finish on that point.

15           Prayer was Down Syndrome and she found it hard to swallow, it's one of the  
16 physical side effects of her Down Syndrome. There was a time in the community where  
17 some of the extended family got an infectious illness and Gloriavale's response was to put  
18 them in a room and take away the mechanism, the locking mechanism so they couldn't get  
19 out of the room, and Prayer choked on a piece of meat and nobody in that room could get  
20 her out. They couldn't get her out the window and they couldn't get the door open and she  
21 died.

22           Now, I understand there's probably a conflict in that Prayer's family say that  
23 Gloriavale told them that when the coroner came to visit they weren't to say anything  
24 negative about Gloriavale and so the official coronial finding is that it was an accident, the  
25 family asked -- since left, some of the family has since left and asked the coroner to reopen  
26 the case and they haven't.

27           To be fair to you, Mr Temple, I should give you a chance to respond to that and then  
28 that will be the end of my questioning.

29 **MR TEMPLE:** I'd say thank you, and receive what Rachel was saying, okay? I couldn't  
30 comment on a lot of things simply because I wasn't there, I didn't know. So I would just  
31 ask you to receive what **GRO-A** is saying and I won't deny anything, I only go on what I  
32 know, all right? I can apologise for not knowing, maybe I didn't investigate enough,

1 I haven't checked enough, I haven't been observant enough. I'm sorry for whatever  
2 happened and what didn't happen. I'm sorry if there was failure there.

3 I feel for the family, I had a Down Syndrome child myself that died at a young age  
4 of pneumonia. So I can understand the feelings a little bit along those lines.

5 But I still say, I still say right and wrong will be taught here in this community and I  
6 will still say everybody in this community, I don't care who they are, what colour they are,  
7 their nationality, they desire or deserve equal treatment, regardless of who they are and  
8 what their problem is. That's all I can do, I can't do anything more now. Thank you.

9 **MS BASIRE:** Thank you, Mr Temple. We now just have the opportunity for the Commissioners  
10 to ask you or Mrs Stedfast some questions.

11 **CHAIR:** Thank you.

12 **COMMISSIONER ERUETI:** Tēnā kōrua. My name's Anaru Erueti I'm one of the  
13 Commissioners. I'd like to start with questions about redress that we talked about earlier  
14 today. You noted that there have been small payments of \$1,000 to \$10,000, I think.  
15 I wanted to know whether you sought external advice or guidance before you started  
16 providing redress to survivors in this way?

17 Did you seek advice? Can you hear me okay? I'll address this to you, Mr Temple.

18 **MR TEMPLE:** Thank you, I'm sorry, my mind went off a little bit, I'm sorry, my mind drifted  
19 off, I'm sorry, if you could repeat it. Thank you.

20 **COMMISSIONER ERUETI:** So I'm asking about, so in evidence earlier today you talked about  
21 providing compensation payments to survivors of abuse in your community, sums of  
22 \$1,000, I think were the average, and other forms of I think you described it as help, limited  
23 amounts of money. And my question is, whether you have sought, as a Shepherd, advice  
24 about providing redress to survivors?

25 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes, we're talking at the present time with, what were they, the -- Craig, what's  
26 his name, do you know? I'm sorry, the name of it, it's a Commission, a Government  
27 Commission for this particular reason. I'm sorry.

28 **COMMISSIONER ERUETI:** Okay.

29 **MR TEMPLE:** But anyway, we're having consultation with him and talking about the means and  
30 ways of helping leavers from church, financially, it's a very short -- there is very little we  
31 can do. If I could say, it was one of the leavers, not so long ago, actually she is one that's  
32 having us in court now, but she asked for \$14,000, she asked for \$14,000 for a down  
33 payment on a home and I requested it from the trust, the trust says no, we cannot do that  
34 because that's a personal benefit and it's a public trust. So we as Christian partners got

1 together, we managed to get \$11,000 and we gave her that, that's all we could get together,  
2 so we're faced with that type of situation. We would love to help people more, but we're  
3 just hindered with finances.

4 **COMMISSIONER ERUETI:** I take that point. Are you familiar with our redress report, our  
5 report Puretumu Torowhānui that we produced in December last year which talks about this  
6 kaupapa of redress?

7 **MR TEMPLE:** No, I'm not familiar with it.

8 **COMMISSIONER ERUETI:** I think we should get you a copy. One of the points that's  
9 emphasised in that report is the importance of independence to ensure that survivors of  
10 abuse do not have to come back to the abuser to seek redress in all its forms, whether it's  
11 monetary compensation, counselling, therapy, supports. I wonder how you would feel  
12 about that, particularly given in your code, I can't remember the name of it, from 1975,  
13 about prohibition of going outside of the community for legal redress. Would you be,  
14 nevertheless, supportive of that redress being provided by an independent body, a body  
15 independent to Gloriavale?

16 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes, very much so. We had talked about getting someone like that in this group  
17 I'm trying to -- because they come across, they're a government department working out of  
18 Greymouth, and we talked with them along these same lines. They're saying that they do  
19 help people in situations and that they could be willing to help us in some way as far as  
20 finding housing and finding jobs and so forth and so on. They're willing to work with us,  
21 we're perfectly willing to work with them as much as we can.

22 **COMMISSIONER ERUETI:** Okay. So, Mr Temple, we've recommended that there be a single  
23 redress scheme that's created for all survivors which includes both State agencies and  
24 faith-based institutions. So I'm assuming that you wouldn't be allergic to that notion and  
25 that the Shepherds would agree with that idea of giving its ease of access for survivors and  
26 independence from the Gloriavale community, based on what you've just said.

27 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes, that would be no problem at all, we'd love to help them more, we're just  
28 hindered because of our financial situation. We're not a rich people by any means. A lot of  
29 our finances is getting taken up at the present time on other matters. But anyway, we did  
30 have a block of land, we were talking about selling the block of land and putting that  
31 money into a reserve account for particularly helping people, doing something like this,  
32 because we do want to and we're willing to.

1 **COMMISSIONER ERUETI:** Thank you, Mr Temple. Thank you. I want to ask you too about  
2 the way in which leadership is established, the Shepherds, their appointment, and also what  
3 you call their supporters, the Servants, I think you called them.

4 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes.

5 **COMMISSIONER ERUETI:** It seems there has been over time a significant number of Māori in  
6 your community, is that fair to say, over time?

7 **MR TEMPLE:** There was two families, two families that were brought in quite early on and the  
8 biggest number, largest number are not in the community anymore. Some of their children  
9 are still in the community, but there's only five, five of the children still in the community  
10 married to New Zealanders in the community.

11 **COMMISSIONER ERUETI:** Even now 19% of the schooling it seems, and we heard -- I  
12 understand there are five families and four have left, but it seems that over time it has been  
13 a significant cohort. But I wondered to what extent they have been represented among the  
14 Shepherds or the Servants of Gloriavale?

15 **MR TEMPLE:** No, no, they weren't represented. It's not for any particular reason, not because of  
16 their culture, their nationality or anything like that. They're women, both women that came  
17 in they had a family but they didn't have husbands, one husband was dead, I'm not sure  
18 what happened to the other husband. They were welcomed into the community. I think  
19 there's one man among them who's a young fella when they come in, he's grown up now  
20 and married to a lady here.

21 **COMMISSIONER ERUETI:** That's okay, sir, we're just so limited for time. If the answer's no,  
22 the answer's no. So on that question about the appointment of the Shepherds, it's not  
23 elected, so it's via some divine choice, is that right? Are you able to just elaborate some  
24 more about how that decision is made?

25 **MR TEMPLE:** It's made generally by me on the type of the person, their spiritual attributes, their  
26 commitment to the community, commitment to this way of life and the way they're  
27 showing it in their life. There's examples in the Bible where the apostle Paul in his  
28 teaching, and he asked Timothy and Titus, he said they had Titus in that place to teach  
29 elders to come up and take the place of leadership and the same with Timothy, it was not  
30 elders in the church that come up and take the place of leadership, it's along that example  
31 there. These people were appointed by me in the church, not by a vote or something like  
32 that.

33 **COMMISSIONER ERUETI:** Thank you, that explains it nicely.

1 I want to come back to the policy document that we had before that was brought up  
2 from 2021 which talked about in teaching you would reject both Māori culture and  
3 European culture together. But I wonder, Mr Temple, about what in effect is happening  
4 there is that in effect it's just the Māori culture that's being rejected because what's being  
5 taught in school is in the English language of instruction, and as counsel noted, you're  
6 teaching from the Western Bible, irrespective of the talk about Israel, this is a dogma and  
7 Christian faith emanated from Western Europe. So it's really the dominance of one culture  
8 over another culture here. Would you agree with that?

9 **MR TEMPLE:** I hadn't seen it that way because the Māori are welcomed here as one of us and  
10 treated equally with everybody else. So I haven't seen it that way that it's one culture above  
11 another. Because to my knowledge and my intentions and my teachings, I know they will  
12 be treated equal with anybody else, there will be no difference at all. Now whoever comes  
13 to that place of leadership I can't say.

14 **COMMISSIONER ERUETI:** Thank you, Mr Temple. We're really short of time and we need to  
15 finish on time, so I have many questions and it's been illuminating but I'll now pass on to  
16 my colleagues. Thank you very much, kia ora.

17 **CHAIR:** Thank you.

18 **MR TEMPLE:** I'll pass on to you and your group, I will pass on to you any questions that you  
19 want answered, feel free to contact me at any time.

20 **CHAIR:** Thank you, Mr Temple, I was going to ask you if you would be prepared to do that and  
21 we're grateful. I've got a couple of Commissioners here who are anxious to ask you just  
22 one or two questions each, so if you could just bear with us for another few moments, I'll  
23 just hand you over to Paul Gibson.

24 **COMMISSIONER GIBSON:** Thanks, Mr Temple. Sorry to hear about the death of your own  
25 disabled child. I just wanted to check my hearing, did you describe your child as "it"?

26 **MR TEMPLE:** Describe the child? It was a young child, a very young child, it was under a year  
27 old and it just got pneumonia in the winter time and --

28 **COMMISSIONER GIBSON:** Your son or daughter.

29 **MR TEMPLE:** It was a daughter, and they have a tendency, I understand, to have a weakness  
30 there in the lung.

31 **COMMISSIONER GIBSON:** Sorry to hear about that. Can I ask, is there any circumstances  
32 where any child, adult or at risk family would be locked in a room now?

33 **MR TEMPLE:** No, no, no, that would definitely be condemned.

34 **COMMISSIONER GIBSON:** That's completely stopped, I'm glad to hear.

1 **MR TEMPLE:** It wouldn't be acceptable to be locked in a room, it's against the law now to lock a  
2 child in a room, isn't it? It's illegal.

3 **COMMISSIONER GIBSON:** And family? And you wouldn't break the law?

4 **MR TEMPLE:** No, not a law that I know of.

5 **COMMISSIONER GIBSON:** Can I ask today, 2022, to what extent is that the founder, the  
6 leader for many years was a convicted sex offender, is that well known throughout the  
7 community today?

8 **MR TEMPLE:** Throughout the community, yes, yes, I don't think of any reason why they  
9 couldn't know of it.

10 **COMMISSIONER GIBSON:** And would it be useful to help keep the community recognising  
11 that there's 61 young people exposed to some harmful sexual behaviour at the moment, for  
12 example this hearing today to be spread through the community so that they get to see and  
13 hear some of the truth, some of these issues.

14 **MR TEMPLE:** That is well known in the community because the investigation was wide open to  
15 everybody in the community and it covered just about every family in the community,  
16 (inaudible) reminding the people of what has happened in the past, let's make sure it doesn't  
17 happen again.

18 **COMMISSIONER GIBSON:** So would you support the information that's happened today,  
19 whether it's the videos, whether it's the transcript being shared throughout the community  
20 so that the families know and learn about the history of their community?

21 **MR TEMPLE:** The transcript here today, what's happening today here, is that what you're talking  
22 about?

23 **COMMISSIONER GIBSON:** Yes, or the video.

24 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes, yes, no, that would be no problem, no problem at all.

25 **COMMISSIONER GIBSON:** We hear, it sounds like, so many children are at risk, young people  
26 are at risk, 61 identified in different ways and you've talked about some processes. You've  
27 talked about a number of disabled children, adults at risk there. What additional processes  
28 are you putting in place to keep disabled people safe from the kind of abuse which has  
29 happened, physical, sexual, over many years at Gloriavale?

30 **MR TEMPLE:** We've got policies in place but if somebody has set a policy it's useless, it's just  
31 words on paper, but it must be implemented, it must be made a live thing and it's moving  
32 and we're pushing it on through to get copies of that in every family, and we teach it and  
33 keep it alive. Plus supervision, family units getting closer together, getting closer  
34 relationships so they can quickly report something and they'll be willing to report anything,

1 any thoughts or dangers about it, and we've got this leads group there and they are there for  
2 that particular reason. People that, anybody can go and report to and do it in  
3 confidentiality, and not get harassed because they've reported something, no prejudice  
4 shown to them, and they're saying -- we're going to carry on, and we're still working with  
5 Safeguarding Children, we're still working with Oranga Tamariki, we're still working with  
6 the Police, we're still working with other groups, the START and STOP who come there  
7 regularly and talk with us. We're welcoming any help along that line that we can get.

8 **COMMISSIONER GIBSON:** One last question. I see in the information which you've supplied  
9 us in advance that of the 600 people within Gloriavale there's nobody identified from the  
10 rainbow community, LGBTQI. Are people's preferences, sexual preferences accepted?  
11 Has there ever been conversion therapy, and given that it's now illegal, will that ever be  
12 contemplated?

13 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes, if it ever happened there would be help given. It has only happened once in  
14 the community to my knowledge and there was a girl from Australia came over and spent  
15 some time with us and her mother was a member of the rainbow community. Now she  
16 didn't show any signs at all of being a member of that. But it came out later on, her and  
17 another girl, they finished up sneaking away together in the night, and then it was obvious  
18 they had been seen in the situation, but yes, they are part of the rainbow community now.  
19 That's the only one that I know of.

20 **COMMISSIONER GIBSON:** Are they accepted within Gloriavale?

21 **MR TEMPLE:** Beg your pardon?

22 **COMMISSIONER GIBSON:** Are they accepted within Gloriavale? There's not an attempt to,  
23 for conversion therapy of people who express --

24 **MR TEMPLE:** I don't even know where they are now, myself. I don't know where they are. I  
25 couldn't even contact them. They just disappeared in the night.

26 **COMMISSIONER GIBSON:** Thanks for your answers.

27 **CHAIR:** Thank you. We've just got one more set of questions for you.

28 **COMMISSIONER ALOFIVAE:** Thank you, Mr Temple, I'll try and keep them short for you.  
29 The first question relates to the leadership of Gloriavale and from the evidence that you've  
30 submitted we see that there are ten people in the leadership that are either Shepherds or  
31 Servants, that's correct?

32 **MR TEMPLE:** Nine people, yes.

33 **COMMISSIONER ALOFIVAE:** Nine people?

34 **MR TEMPLE:** Nine people.

1 **COMMISSIONER ALOFIVAE:** Thank you. And so when decisions are disseminated, they  
2 start at the top and you filter it down through the community; is that correct?

3 **MR TEMPLE:** Not entirely, it depends on what the decision is. We have a number of businesses  
4 and they all have managers and they're free to work and make decisions in their businesses.  
5 The ladies work in the food, the clothing, washing and so forth, they're free to make  
6 decisions among themselves, although they will come and ask me for some decisions that  
7 are a bit complicated and they're not sure, but they're free, they're perfectly capable of doing  
8 their jobs (inaudible).

9 **COMMISSIONER ALOFIVAE:** Thank you. So operational decisions like that go without  
10 saying, but I'm talking more fundamental issues like the very big issue that you've -- where  
11 there's been a change within your community around the acceptance of abuse. So is that  
12 socialised from the top? So in other words, do you and the other nine leaders, do you  
13 actually actively talk about that so that there can be a change of culture within the  
14 community? And I see Ms Stedfast nodding there.

15 **MR TEMPLE:** Very much so. Very much so. And in that lead group they're well known in the  
16 community that people can go report offences or anything of concern they can go report to  
17 them and they can come and report to me.

18 **COMMISSIONER ALOFIVAE:** Thank you. That then leads to my second question around the  
19 apology you issued but specifically to the leavers group where you haven't actually reached  
20 out to them, but this is the group that have been particularly harmed, is there intention to do  
21 that before the end of this year, to reach out to them?

22 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes.

23 **COMMISSIONER ALOFIVAE:** To have a meeting so they can hold you accountable if this  
24 meeting doesn't take place? Because you've stated a number of times it's your intention to  
25 do that.

26 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes, we will do that straight away. I'm sure that it's written out, when a person  
27 said he would do that, he'd get a notice out to every leaver, there would be some it would be  
28 very hard to contact, because we never hear from them. But the ones that we can contact  
29 yes, we will, we can't make them big promises --

30 **COMMISSIONER ALOFIVAE:** Of course.

31 **MR TEMPLE:** -- simply because we have restrictions ourselves.

32 **COMMISSIONER ALOFIVAE:** But a genuine, authentic effort will be made to reach out?

33 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes, there will be, I can promise you that.

1 **COMMISSIONER ALOFIVAE:** Thank you. My last question really is around the importance  
2 of human rights and I really wanted to ask this question to Mrs Stedfast.

3 So I understood then that the special character of the school allowed you to frame  
4 your curriculum where you didn't have to teach Māori, you didn't have to teach European  
5 culture, so that's actually permitted because of the State's oversight. Is that what I was  
6 hearing you -- was that what I was hearing? Did I hear that correctly?

7 **MRS STEDFAST:** I think so, yeah.

8 **COMMISSIONER ALOFIVAE:** And so the importance, then, of children's rights, is that  
9 something that as a community you see as an important value? So I'm talking about the  
10 international conventions that New Zealand has ratified, which means as a nation, so you  
11 start at the top as a nation, you then break it down to communities, that we have signed up  
12 to, the Government signed up to on our behalf. Is that something that is actively promoted  
13 and honoured in the Gloriavale community?

14 **MRS STEDFAST:** So more and more it is, and as we learn and as we do training and  
15 professional learning and development, we are learning so much more about that. A lot of  
16 ignorance has been in the past about all that, but going forward, children are very, very  
17 important to us. So yeah, that is definitely an aim.

18 **MR TEMPLE:** Love and care and hope. Love and care and help.

19 **COMMISSIONER ALOFIVAE:** Which would be consistent with your theology.

20 **MR TEMPLE:** Yes, yes.

21 **COMMISSIONER ALOFIVAE:** My last point was, again in the evidence that you filed with us  
22 we see that you're right, you have been making minor changes to your What We Believe  
23 document, the first starting in 1991 when you amended your document so that you could  
24 allow your religious leaders to remarry, in this particular case it was Hopeful Christian. I  
25 think my point there is, when it pertains to the leaders and presumably the Servants, you  
26 move very quickly, but when it pertains to the populace it's very slow. Would you accept  
27 that as a general proposition, from all of the evidence that we've seen filed and what we've  
28 heard?

29 **MR TEMPLE:** No, no, that's definitely not, we're all equal, there's nothing special about these  
30 leaders, they get no special privileges, they all eat the same food, sit at the same table, and  
31 everything is the same, a rule like that is applied to everybody the same.

32 **COMMISSIONER ALOFIVAE:** Thank you, Mr Temple. I'm just really putting that change and  
33 I'm putting it against, again, what's been filed in your documents, that relates to

1 Government changes, you rely on Government agencies to make changes that will then  
2 force a change in your own community behaviour.

3 So that pertains to changes in the early childhood centre when it comes to sexual  
4 abuse allegations, Police investigations. But for the State interference, or for the State  
5 presence, the community is very slow to move on behalf of issues that are raised by your  
6 community people. That was simply my point.

7 **MR TEMPLE:** Okay, but change is being made. Now, we're trying to change -- we're changing a  
8 culture and that does take a little bit of time. But -- changes will be made but it will take a  
9 bit of time for them to really shine before the public.

10 **COMMISSIONER ALOFIVAE:** Thank you, Mr Temple.

11 **MRS STEDFAST:** I would like to just share a little about that, because what you're saying is that  
12 the leadership will quickly change something that involves them but they're slow to change  
13 something that involves just the population of the community, so to speak.

14 Well, from my point of view, they know about their problems because they are  
15 living them. If the community doesn't have a channel to communicate our problems to the  
16 leadership, the leadership won't know about them on a general basis. So that's why having  
17 the child protection leads in there actually opens up a channel. We also have now  
18 established an advisory committee, which has women and young men and, you know,  
19 people that are not necessarily in the leadership, but they are often going around the  
20 community, finding out these issues, asking these questions, and then feeding back to the  
21 leadership because the leaders themselves personally can't just go around everything all  
22 day.

23 So it was actually a process of putting more people there to open up those channels  
24 to the leadership so that change, so the leaders would know what was happening, and that  
25 change could happen for the, you know, general people in the community. So that's a really  
26 good change that has happened and we've put in place.

27 **COMMISSIONER ALOFIVAE:** Thank you.

28 **MR TEMPLE:** Thank you, blessing Rachel. Okay. I'll repeat it again, any of you people have  
29 questions you didn't get answered today but you'd like answered, just get them to me and  
30 I'll get you an answer back, maybe a more thorough than I have given today, I'll have more  
31 time to go and research.

32 **CHAIR:** Yes, and you'll have more chance to think about it as well. We're very grateful for that  
33 offer Mr Temple, which we accept.

1           It's brought us to the end of the day and for a long day of evidence. Can I first thank  
2 the Gloriavale Leavers' Trust who made opening statements at the beginning. I know that  
3 some of the members of that trust have been in the room all day. I'm sure there are others  
4 who are watching and I just want to acknowledge that you have afforded us the privilege of  
5 hearing from you and I hope that the day has been of some assistance to you.

6           And then may I finish by thanking both of you, our witnesses today, Mrs Stedfast  
7 and Mr Temple. I know it's been a long day. And it's not just today that you have provided  
8 us with evidence, we have a heap of documents which I know that you've probably spent a  
9 lot of time working on and I want to acknowledge the work that's gone into those and thank  
10 you very much for your cooperation with the Commission hearing. And finally I wish you  
11 a good evening.

12           We're going to end now with a karakia and if you would like to stay and participate  
13 in that you are welcome, otherwise we will wish you farewell.

14 **MR TEMPLE:** I would just like to apologise for us taking up your whole day. It is our fault, you  
15 can blame us that you had to take up your whole day.

16 **CHAIR:** There is no blame, Mr Temple.

17 **COMMISSIONER ERUETI:** It was very illuminating.

18 **CHAIR:** We had the whole day set aside for you and I'm glad we've used it to everybody's best  
19 advantage so thank you again for your help.

20           So kua mutu aku mahi i tēnei wā. We will now close with a karakia, kei a koe matua.

21           **Waiata Whakataka Te Hau and karakia mutunga by Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei**

22           **Hearing adjourns at 5.17 pm to Monday, 17 October 2022 at 9 am**